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Together we can help the environment
As part of NCB’s commitment to conservation, we are reducing the print-runs of all corporate  
reports. Many people have already indicated they prefer to receive digital versions. To view English 
or Arabic digital versions of our reports, please visit the ‘About Us’ Section at www.alahli.com.

Feedback  We welcome your comments on this report. 
These should be directed to corporatecomms@alahli.com 
or we may be contacted directly on +966 2 646 4288. 

Mixed Sources  All NCB corporate reports are printed 
using FSC certified papers, which are from well-managed 
forests and other controlled sources. www.fsc.org
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Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques
King Abdullah Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saud

HRH Prince Naif Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saud
 Crown Prince, Deputy Prime Minister and
Minister of the Interior



Performance
Net income growth of 27.3 percent was 
mainly due to the success of our strategy to 
diversify income sources, grow revenue from 
core activities, and improve efficiency, leading 
to a 12.5 percent reduction in operating costs. 

NCB has continued to attract new deposit 
inflows and we worked hard in 2011 to deploy 
this liquidity into productive assets, supporting 
our customers and the wider Saudi economy. 

Increased corporate lending underwrote a 
number of major infrastructure projects.

Our Turkish subsidiary reflected the country’s 
robust economic performance, generating 
strong earnings in servicing SMEs and 
customer trade flows. 

Strength
In the belief that people are NCB’s greatest 
asset, we invested in developing the talents  
of customer-facing and support staff.

Prudence in provisioning, backed by new risk 
rating models in our credit businesses and higher 
levels of transparency, contributed to NCB 
securing the highest Tier 1 capital ratio in the 
industry, well ahead of Basel III requirements.

Reach
Catering to the evolving needs of customers, 
we opened 11 new branches and Corporate 
Service Centers in 2011. All are designed to 
enhance the customer experience.

In addition, we established 138 new ATMs, 
1,731 new point-of-sale machines, and launched 
four new Corporate Service Centers in remote 
and industrial areas, dedicated to serving the 
daily needs of SMEs and commercial clients.

With 25 centers across the Kingdom and 
185,000 customers, QuickPay has become  
a vital channel for NCB, extending financial 
inclusion to an under-served customer segment. 

Physical expansion was complemented by 
harnessing electronic channels and 
cutting-edge security technology to make 
banking simpler and more convenient for all.   

All of these initiatives combined to make 2011 
a year of solid and significant progress.
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The National Commercial Bank (NCB) is Saudi Arabia’s largest 
financial institution. For 60 years, people have looked to NCB for 
leadership, have welcomed its innovation and quality customer 
service, and considered it a trusted, ethical partner in their 
professional and personal lives.
First
Since 1953, NCB’s name has been synonymous with 
leadership and pioneering spirit. In many ways, the Bank’s 
growth since the 1950s has mirrored the development of 
modern Saudi Arabia. Today, with more than 2.8 million 
customers, it is one of the region’s most trusted brands. 

NCB is rated A+ by Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings,  
the highest in the Saudi banking sector. 

Saudi
The pre-eminence and respect gained over the years is 
mainly due to NCB’s empathy and partnership with people 
across the Kingdom – a special position of trust where it  
is known simply as ‘Bank AlAhli’, the national bank. 

NCB is wholly Saudi owned and its customers are 
overwhelmingly Saudi, as are most of its management 
team, and 90 percent of employees in the Kingdom.

Group
In recent years, NCB has evolved to become a full-fledged 
financial services group. The first step in this process came 
in 2007 when all Saudi banks segregated their capital market 
operations as stand-alone entities. NCB Capital is now Saudi 
Arabia’s leading wealth advisor and the Kingdom’s largest 
asset manager.

NCB has had extensive international reach for many years, 
present in key centers such as Bahrain, Lebanon, Singapore, 
and South Korea. The Bank’s first major cross-border 
acquisition was in 2008 when it purchased a majority 
holding in Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası, one of Turkey’s 
leading participation banks.

Sustainable
The principles of sustainability are now viewed as central  
to NCB’s strategy, and potently relevant to the challenges 
facing all banks, companies, and countries in the new global 
economic environment. 

NCB was honored to receive the King Khalid Award for 
Responsible Competitiveness in 2008, 2009, and 2010. The 
King Khalid Foundation has acknowledged NCB’s pioneering 
role in this area, seen as vitally important for Saudi Arabia 
and the Middle East region.

Trusted
Generations of Saudis have looked to NCB – not only as a 
homegrown bank, but as an ethical and reliable partner. As 
a major economic player, NCB appreciates the difference it 
can make within communities. It aims to lead by example 
and to act responsibly in all initiatives, business or social. 

For instance, as an employer, NCB embraces diversity and 
runs many programs that equip Saudi men and women with 
greater skills, knowledge, and opportunities. It also aims to hire 
and promote people to work in their own region, contributing 
to local economic development.

Engagement with the community is deep and long-standing. 
The Bank’s CSR activities focus on helping the needy, 
addressing specific social problems, financing educational 
and health-related activities, and fostering micro and small 
businesses. These programs are carefully managed to ensure 
that tangible results emerge from the significant investment 
of time and money.
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Financial Highlights

Fee income from banking services rose  
by 5.8 percent, foreign exchange income by 
36 percent, and gains on sale of investments 
by 14.9 percent. Net special commission 
income increased by 5.3 percent.

Shareholders’ equity increased by 8.3 percent 
to SR 35.6 billion, while customer deposits 
increased by 4.5 percent to SR 239.5 billion. 

Total assets increased by 6.7 percent to  
SR 301.2 billion. This was reflected in expanded 
lending activities, which rose 7.7 percent to  
SR 135.3 billion.

We continued with a prudent and conservative 
approach to provisioning, increasing coverage 
from 116.9 percent to 140.9 percent.

Return on equity improved from 15.6 percent 
to 18.4 percent, and return on average assets 
improved from 1.78 percent to 2.09 percent.

NCB’s Pillar 1 capital adequacy ratio (tiers  
1 and 2) was 18.2 percent, and the Bank 
maintained its A+ rating from Standard & 
Poor’s and Fitch Ratings – the highest in Saudi 
Arabia, illustrating our financial strength and 
healthy liquidity.

+4.5%

+8.3%

+27.2%

Customer Deposits

Shareholders’ Equity

Earnings Per Share

+6.7%

+27.3%

+2.8%

Total Assets

Net Income

Return on Average Equity
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* Excluding minority interests

Customer Deposits
SR millions

 11                                                                                  239,458

 10                                                                               229,160

 09                                                                  202,583

 08                                                     171,822

 07                                       142,825

Total Assets
SR millions

 11                                                                                     301,198

 10                                                                             282,372

 09                                                                   257,452

 08                                                         221,802

 07                                                    208,717

Net Income*
SR millions

 11                                                                                        6,012

 10                                                                 4,724

 09                                                     4,040

 08                  2,031

 07                                                                                       6,016

Return on Average Equity*
Percent

 11                                                                       18.4

 10                                                           15.6

 09                                                     14.6

 08                    7.3

 07                                                                                         22.5

Shareholders’ Equity*
SR millions

 11                                                                                        34,165

 08                                                          26,115

 09                                                                     29,271

 10                                                                          31,272

 07                                                                     29,531

Earnings Per Share*
Saudi Riyals

 11                                                                                         4.02

 10                                                                    3.16

 09                                                      2.70

 08                     1.35

 07                                                                                         4.01
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, it is my pleasure 
to present The National Commercial Bank’s Annual 
Report for 2011. 

The fragile state of the global economy and the continuing 
aftershocks from the crisis of 2008 were problematic issues 
throughout the year. Fortunately, here in Saudi Arabia, we 
were relatively shielded from the turbulence and 
uncertainty that still persists, particularly in the Eurozone. 

In a national context, the Saudi economy has grown, mainly 
due to the stability created by our Government’s continued 
implementation of positive economic policies; in NCB’s case, 
by the strategies and programs adopted in response to the 
changed market environment. 

We increased market share in our main operational sectors, 
further strengthened our capabilities in risk management, 
and extended our reach with the opening of new branches, 
focusing particularly on the remoter regions. 

All these factors contributed to impressive growth in our 
figures for the year. Net income rose by 27.3 percent to  
SR 6,012 million, customers’ deposits rose by 4.5 percent  
to SR 239.5 billion, and total assets increased by 6.7 percent 
to SR 301.2 billion. Shareholders’ equity (excluding minority 
interests) reached SR 35.6 billion, an increase of 8.3 percent, 
while shareholders’ return on equity was 18.4 percent and 
return on average assets 2.09 percent. As a result, our Pillar 
1 capital adequacy ratio (tiers 1 and 2) was 18.2 percent, 
the highest of any bank in Saudi Arabia. 

The Board proposes paying a final dividend of SR 1,495.9 
million, which equates to SR 1.00 per share. This makes the 
total paid and proposed for 2011 SR 2,692.8 million.

Looking ahead, we can expect the global economic 
environment to remain challenging, characterized by low 
interest rates, sovereign debt issues, and fears of prolonged 
recession. However, indicators point to continued growth  
in Saudi Arabia and Turkey in 2012, with NCB strongly 
positioned to achieve its objectives and build its businesses, 
as evidenced by our 2011 results. 

The Board of Directors expresses sincere appreciation to  
the Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques, King Abdullah Bin 
Abdulaziz Al-Saud; His Royal Highness Prince Naif Bin 
Abdulaziz Al-Saud, the Crown Prince, Deputy Prime Minister 
and Minister of the Interior; and all Government ministers. 
We also thank the Ministry of Finance, the Saudi Arabian 
Monetary Agency, and the Capital Market Authority for their 
oversight and stewardship of the regulatory environment. 

We express appreciation to NCB’s shareholders, who again 
demonstrated unwavering support for the Bank’s business 
strategies, and acknowledge the loyalty and continuing trust 
of our customers, whose continued patronage is fundamental 
to our success. 

The Bank’s employees represent an invaluable asset, and  
we pay tribute to the hard work and dedication they have 
displayed in achieving such encouraging results and 
responding so positively to the challenges they faced.

Abdullah Salim Bahamdan 
Chairman

Chairman’s Statement6
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Abdullah Salim Bahamdan (1) 

Chairman of the Board. Chairman of the Executive 
Committee, the Credit Committee and the Risk 
Committee. Member of the Compensation  
& Nomination Committee.

Board Member, Saudi Petrochemicals Company,  
the Saudi Research and Marketing Group, Al-Jazirah 
Corporation for Press, Printing and Publishing, 
Yemen Fisheries Company, Yemen Arab Cement, 
and Aluminum Products Company. Board Member 
by Royal Decree of Saudi Economic Cities. Advisory 
Board Member of the International Confederation 
of Arab Bankers.

Mutlaq Abdullah Al-Mutlaq (2)  
Member of the Executive Committee and the 
Credit Committee.

President, Al-Mutlaq Group. Chairman of the  
Board, Al-Jazirah Corporation for Press, Printing  
and Publishing.

Abdullah Mohamed Al-Ghelaiqa (3)  
Member of the Compensation &  
Nomination Committee.

Former Governor of the Saline Water Conversion 
Corporation. Former Member, Majlis Al Shoura 
(Consultative Council).

Abdul-Aziz Abdullah Al-Zaid (4) 

Member of the Executive Committee and the 
Credit Committee.

Assistant Governor for Investment, General 
Organization for Social Insurance (GOSI). Chairman 
of the Board, Granada Investment Center. Board 
Member and Executive Committee Member, 
Qassim Cement Company.

Abdullah Mohammed Noor Rehaimi (5)  
Chairman of the Compensation & Nomination 
Committee. Member of the Risk Committee.

Board Member, Savola Group and Allujain Company. 
Former President of the General Authority for Civil 
Aviation. Former Board Member, Saudi Arabian 
Airlines. Former Chairman, Saudi Academy for 
Aviation. Former Chairman, Middle East CANSO 
(Civil Air Navigation Services Organization). 

Abdul-Aziz Ibrahim Alomar (6) 

Chairman of the Audit Committee. Member  
of the Risk Committee and the Compensation  
& Nomination Committee.

Financial Advisor, Public Investment Fund (PIF). 
Chairman of the Board, Water and Electricity Company 
Holding. Vice Chairman of the Board and Chairman of 
the Audit Committee, Saudi e-Tabadul Company. Board 
Member and Member of the Executive Committee, 
Stusid Bank (Tunis). Member of the Audit Committee, 
Saudi Telecom Company (STC). Board Member, 
October Pharma (Egypt), Saudi Egyptian Industrial 
Investment, and Almontazahah Contracting Company.

Fouad Mohammad Nour  
Abu Mansoor (7) 

Member of the Audit Committee. Chairman  
of the Board, NCB Capital. 

Board Member, Public Pension Agency and Raydah 
Investment Company. Former Chief Executive Officer, 
International Company for Communications Systems 
Operation. Former Deputy Minister of Post, Telephone 
and Telegram. Former Member, Majlis Al Shoura 
(Consultative Council).

Ibrahim M. Al-Romaih (8) 

Member of the Executive Committee and the  
Credit Committee.

Chief Executive Officer, the Saudi Arabian Investment 
Company (Sanabel Investment). Former Vice Chairman, 
the Capital Market Authority (CMA). Former Assistant 
Secretary General of the Public Investment Fund (PIF). 

Abdulkareem A. Abu Alnasr (9) 

Chief Executive Officer. Member of the Executive 
Committee, the Credit Committee, and the  
Risk Committee. Vice-Chairman, Türkiye Finans  
Katılım Bankası.

Chairman of the Board of Directors, INJAZ-Saudi 
Arabia. Chairman of the Regional Advisory Board, 
MasterCard Middle East and Africa (MEA) Region. 
Member of the Board of Trustees and Executive 
Committee, the Union of Arab Banks (Lebanon). 
Member of the Advisory Board for Economic  
Affairs under the Supreme Economic Council 
(Saudi Arabia). Member of the Board of Trustees  
and Executive Committee, the Arab Academy  
for Banking and Financial Science (Jordan). Vice 
Chairman, Regional Board of Directors, INJAZ 
al-Arab. Member of the Board, Saudi Arabian 
General Investment Authority (SAGIA) and Saudi 
Commission for Tourism & Antiquities.
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The global business environment in 2011 continued 
to be challenging. To the existing pressures of weak 
growth and uneven economic recovery were added 
new uncertainties opened up by geopolitical changes 
and regional instability in the Arab world and a 
growing sovereign debt crisis in Europe. All of this 
impacted global consumer and business sentiment 
and created extensive market volatility.

In Saudi Arabia, these changes were felt but, with the 
relative protection of a robust economic landscape 
supported by high oil prices and increased levels of 
government investment, the economy continued to  
grow with rising investor confidence.

At NCB, we have continued to evolve our business along  
a sustained path, building strength whilst meeting our 
customers’ needs, in a continuation of the successful 
approach that characterized our achievements last year.

Performance in growth, lending, and market share
Set against this backdrop, NCB’s successful execution of its 
strategy in 2011 was reflected by progress in three interlinked 
areas – performance, financial strength, and customer  
reach – each reflecting the Bank’s move towards its vision  
of being the region’s premier financial services group.

We reported strong growth not only in a financial performance 
that saw a 27.3 percent increase in net income to SR 6,012 
million, driven by strong fee and commission income growth 
and lower provisions, but also in an increased market share 
in many of our businesses. The flight to quality that was 
evident last year continued to bring new deposit inflow to 
the Bank and we worked hard in 2011 to deploy this liquidity 
into productive assets, putting them to work to support 
both our customers and the wider Saudi economy.

In our Individual Banking portfolio of businesses, growth  
in personal finance was achieved by securing new payroll 
mandates and, building on this, strong marketing campaigns 
helped to boost demand for consumer lending. Similarly, 
demand for credit card products was also high and this  
was exemplified by our relaunch of the AlFursan card, in 
partnership with Saudi Arabian Airlines. Customers also took 
advantage of our network of correspondent banks and 
upgrades in our domestic QuickPay centers, to enable their 
local and international remittances.

On the back of strong economic growth, our business  
saw increased lending through Corporate Banking, as we 
underwrote a number of major infrastructure projects and 
secured significant mandates. This growth was aided by 
broadened capabilities in Treasury, enhancing our ability to 
launch new products, and in trade financing. On the capital 
markets side and through our subsidiary NCB Capital, we 
also saw growth in the volume of brokerage transactions 
and we continue to lead the domestic mutual fund business 
with a 30 percent market share.

We experienced a similar level of success in our Turkish 
subsidiary, Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası, reflecting the 
country’s continued robust economic performance and  
the effective execution of their strategy, generating strong 
earnings in servicing SMEs and customers’ trade flows,  
and a strong growth in lending.

Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued

Capital strength underpins our franchise
To maintain our leadership position, we have worked 
consistently over the last couple of years to ensure that not 
only are we managing the risks that our customers face in 
protecting and growing their financial assets, but that we 
are also embedding a strong risk management discipline in 
all of our businesses and extending that approach to the 
way we sustain the strength of our balance sheet. 

Ensuring robust processes in remedial management and 
prudence in provisioning, we introduced new risk rating 
models in our credit businesses, alongside the improved 
reporting of consolidated portfolio data across the Group. 
This combined to ensure high levels of transparency in 
maintaining our capital adequacy position. In fact, we have 
further embedded that ethos in 2011 and now have the 
highest Tier 1 capital ratio in the industry, placing us well 
ahead of the Basel III regulatory requirements.

In 2011, we focused our attention on making greater use of 
the liquidity generated through increased deposit levels. We 
leveraged the strength of our balance sheet and our robust 
capital strength to support our corporate clients in their 
investments in major projects. As the leading project 
finance provider in the Kingdom, we also saw an increase in 
demand for Shariah-compliant financing, a growing theme 
across all of our businesses and an area of natural strength. 

A broadened geographic and product reach
We have always been proud of our ability to reach 
customers wherever they are throughout the Kingdom and 
in the last year we have broadened that ability by opening 
new branches to cater to the growing needs of our 
customers across the Kingdom. We have similarly expanded 
our network of Corporate Banking teams, especially in the 
central region, and the presence of wealth managers in NCB 
Capital ‘shop-in-shop’ facilities in selected branches. This 
enables a broader set of our customers to take advantage 
of banking services.

But beyond this physical expansion, we have also increased 
the ways in which all customers can access the Bank, 
especially through electronic channels. Underpinned by 
cutting-edge security technology, these new channels 
address the growing usage of the internet and phones in 
the Kingdom and the expectation that banking should be 
an activity that fits easily into people’s daily lives, whatever 
their needs are.

Similarly, we have been growing our customer reach in 
Turkey. During the year, a new Chief Executive Officer was 
appointed to Türkiye Finans and he began by reshaping the 
management team and refreshing the strategy, deepening 
the bank’s commitment to the SME heartland and tying it 
resolutely to the trade flows that the growing Turkish 
economy is generating. Reflecting NCB’s approach to risk 
management, the bank has focused on strengthening its 
balance sheet to meet enhanced regulatory requirements 
and has put in place new credit disciplines to underpin its 
prudent lending practices.

The economic, social and political links that exist between 
Saudi Arabia and Turkey are strengthening and, as a result, 
business development between the two countries is  
gaining traction. 

140.9%
NCB has continued to effectively manage credit risk, in accordance 
with its prudent approach to provisioning. The coverage ratio rose 
from 116.9 percent in 2010 to 140.9 percent in 2011.

Our engagement with the community is deep and long-standing. 
We often hire and promote people to work in their own region, 
fostering local economic development.

12
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Leveraging our unique position as a ‘business bridge’ 
between our two nations, we are positioned to take 
advantage of these natural ties, bringing our geographic 
and product reach closer together.

Managing risk for our customers and  
addressing their needs
Continued market volatility meant that customers looked  
to us to help them manage a multitude of risks – from 
currency and interest rate exposures to commodity price 
fluctuations – and in ways that also take account of their 
individual views and risk appetites.

Our Treasury division played a central role in providing 
tailored structures and products that helped to mitigate  
risk and achieve the capital protection and growth that 
customers are looking for. During the year we positioned 
Treasury as the first port of call for customers seeking 
tailored risk management solutions, and we responded to 
the growing desire of customers to more actively manage 
their risks by increasing further the speed with which our 
Corporate Banking and Treasury teams work together to 
provide credit decisions. At the heart of this approach lies  
a robust client management program, incorporating clear 
and systematic processes.

Given the environment, risk in all its guises has been 
pervasive this year. To address this, we have provided 
hedging for large local conglomerates and yield enhancement, 
structured deposits and capital guarantee products for 
sophisticated investors, and we saw the growing demand 
for Islamic products that addressed customer risk. All of this 
has been underpinned by a deeper knowledge of these 
customers’ needs.

In these challenging business environments, it has never 
been more important for us to nurture close and lasting 
relationships with our customers and to provide them with 
the products and services that match their individual needs 
and attitudes to risk. In 2011 we addressed this thoroughly by 
clearly identifying the unique needs of each type of customer.

In our wealth management business, we recognize that 
individual savers now seek security and protection more 
than ever, while more sophisticated investors want to 
combine that approach with an ability to generate high 
returns; and they all want to be able to manage and move 
their money in ways that are convenient to them, making 
use of advances in technology.

To provide the support that they need, NCB Capital, through 
its wealth advisory and asset management business, developed 
a number of new approaches during the year. Adding to our 
risk-based advisory services, the appointment of the Chief 
Investment Officer now enables us to provide deeper insight 
for investors, who are increasingly taking a more strategic 
approach to managing their wealth.

Due to this, we have seen the growth of discretionary portfolio 
management (DPM) as we work with customers to construct 
the right mix of assets and, as a result, our DPM business 
grew by over 80 percent.

12.4%
Türkiye Finans’s net income rose 12.4 percent in 2011. Total assets 
grew by 26.5 percent, the result of robust expansion in the bank’s 
loan portfolio and customer deposits.

With 182 branches, Türkiye Finans’s network is the second 
largest in Turkey’s participation banking sector.

Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
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Our Individual Banking portfolio of businesses deepened  
its penetration in all of its customer segments. We further 
developed specific internet-based current account 
programs to address the lifestyles of young people, and we 
spent time learning more about the way in which our retail 
customers use our services, analyzing detailed feedback to 
improve our performance in branches and contact centers.

Corporate Banking clients benefited from a greater 
emphasis on products designed especially for them and  
in the priority service they receive in every interaction with 
the Bank. We have also begun to segment these customers 
further by looking at how best we can service not only 
larger businesses, but also SME banking customers.

Developing our capabilities
Building our capabilities internally has always been a key 
objective and one that sits at the heart of our evolving 
business. We must grow with our customers and we know 
that they look increasingly to us for greater insights and 
advice, as well as the products that truly match their views 
of risk and help them meet their longer-term objectives.  
To address this, we endeavor to provide our people with  
the tools that will enhance their capabilities, and 2011  
saw a further investment in this.

The year saw further investment in our Saudization 
program, with 90.0 percent of all employees now being 
Saudi nationals. 

Investing in our human capital continues to be of paramount 
importance to our future growth. We are proud of our 
ability to offer rewarding and challenging roles to talented 
individuals and this last year saw a number of women move 
into high-profile roles, including the appointment of our first 
female Chief Accountant.

Believing that people are our greatest asset, we spent time 
developing the talents of customer-facing and support staff, 
running specialized programs in Corporate Banking, 
Consumer Finance, and Individual Banking. The year also 
saw a particular focus on succession planning at the highest 
levels and the deployment of talented individuals to areas of 
strategic importance as part of clear and structured 
leadership development plans.

Two specialized training and development initiatives were 
launched in 2011. In the consumer business, our NCB Cards 
and Acquiring Academy, run in conjunction with MasterCard, 
saw its first graduates complete training that will be 
immediately relevant in a fast-growing consumer market. 
And in a program aimed at serving our high net worth 
individual and institutional customers, we launched an 
accreditation program for wealth managers that will benefit 
clients throughout the Kingdom.

This year, we have put particular emphasis on supporting 
the fast-growing SME customer base in the Kingdom, taking 
our banking expertise out to every region through 
workshops that helped customers gain a greater appreciation 
of business techniques in a number of areas. From methods 
to improve productivity through strategic planning, to 
e-marketing and pricing methodologies, the feedback from 
customers has been universally positive and is helping this 
important segment to grow its influence.

Supporting the national economy is a primary role. NCB has 
participated in high-profile project finance deals to top-tier 
corporates such as the Saudi Arabian Mining Company (Maaden).

Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
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We also shared our expertise with stakeholders outside  
the Bank and, in a continuation of a previous theme around 
broadening the incorporation of Islamic banking into the 
broader market, this year saw us offer detailed training to 
scholars aimed at broadening their knowledge of the way  
in which Shariah-compliant products can meet the needs  
of today’s investors and customers. We launched the 
Kingdom’s first education program, a two-year course 
aimed at providing scholars with an understanding of 
banking and financial market fundamentals. We hope that 
this will provide benefits to the scholastic community and 
further raise the Kingdom’s profile as a leader in the 
development and implementation of Islamic products. 

Our sustainability approach centers on  
people, profit, and planet
In 2011 we continued to work hard within our sphere of 
influence to ensure that our actions have a beneficial impact 
on all of our stakeholders, being a catalyst for positive change 
and, hopefully, a role model in encouraging a focus on how 
to build a sustainable approach into all aspects of banking. 
We still see this as a journey, but one that in 2011 took us a 
step closer to ensuring that sustainability fundamentals are 
embedded into all of our businesses and practices.

From the way we are designing new energy-efficient branches 
around the Kingdom, to our practical steps in embracing 
recycling and making efficient use of water, we want to 
show our impact in practical ways. Our sustainability plan  
is making strides in implementing meaningful programs to 
ensure that we continue to deliver on this fundamentally 
important objective.

Sustainability comes in many forms, and we look to each and 
every business and employee to think about how we can 
grow whilst doing the right thing. In Corporate Banking, our 
relationship managers are raising customer awareness of 
not only what we are doing but in looking at how they might 
also engage. In our SME and business banking segments we 
are encouraging the entrepreneurial ethos that will help 
these companies grow into larger entities, to the benefit  
of their stakeholders and the Kingdom’s wider economy.

In each case, we are addressing sustainability goals in 
relevant ways which will benefit people everywhere, have a 
positive impact on our own financial performance, and help 
the environment.

We have supported the creation of new job opportunities 
around the Kingdom and are helping educational initiatives 
that benefit a wide swathe of society. Particularly noteworthy 
is the financial literacy training we are offering young people 
through our partnership with INJAZ-Saudi Arabia, the 
non-profit organization that works to fill the gap between 
the education system and workforce readiness. Some 
14,000 students have now passed through this program, 
which supports wider Government educational initiatives 
aimed at encouraging economic growth and employment 
throughout the Kingdom.

30%
NCB’s program of network expansion includes new branch designs 
and technologies that reduce energy consumption by around  
30 percent and enhance the entire customer experience.

Launched initially at the Bank’s head office, ‘Start Now’ is NCB’s 
recycling initiative focused on more environmentally-friendly 
disposal of paper, plastic, cans, and glass materials.

Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
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2012 outlook
The fundamental building blocks of our strategy to become 
the region’s premier financial services group remain solid, as 
evidenced by our continued growth, strength, and reach in 
a year of great global uncertainty and volatility. But we know 
that prolonged success will require us to continue to evolve.

The robust economic outlook for Saudi Arabia and Turkey  
in 2012 will generate opportunities for growth and, at the 
same time, our strong capital position will assist us in the 
challenging environment ahead. The global challenges of  
a low interest rate environment and sustained tougher 
competition will be pressing, set against the ongoing general 
climate of international economic uncertainty. 

We continue to navigate a prudent path through these 
realities by delivering an excellent service to our customers, 
in the process establishing a leading position in all of our 
core segments and products, and by efficiently deploying 
our strong liquidity into productive assets. We will continue 
to pay attention to strong governance, in all its forms, and 
to invest in developing the talent we have around our 
organization and broaden our footprint, both in the 
Kingdom and in Turkey.

By adhering to these principles, we will deepen our 
relationships with our customers, attract and retain the best 
banking talent, and provide solid returns to our 
shareholders. And in so doing we will play a leading role in 
the social fabric of the Kingdom and Turkey.

Gratitude
As always, our success depends on our people and teams, 
working together around the Kingdom and beyond to drive 
our business through what was a challenging year. 
Stakeholders in every aspect of our operations have been 
instrumental in ensuring that we finished the year with solid 
results and I would like to thank them for their commitment.

Our shareholders once again provided unwavering support 
as we evolved our businesses and addressed difficult 
markets. This level of commitment has been essential to us, 
as has the insight, thoughtfulness, and guidance of my 
fellow board directors.

We would not have a business without our customers and  
I would like to thank them for their loyalty and partnership. 
The support of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority and 
the Capital Market Authority is also much appreciated.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my colleagues from 
around the NCB Group who have worked tirelessly and 
diligently throughout the year to ensure that we could 
report a strong set of results. The collaboration they have 
displayed and the resilience they have shown in the face  
of tough markets has been inspiring.

Abdulkareem A. Abu Alnasr  
Chief Executive Officer

 

90.0%
NCB is a leader in the recruitment of young Saudis, not only in  
the financial sector but among all private sector organizations. 
Our Saudization rate currently stands at 90.0 percent.

During 2011 the Bank commenced a program to recruit university 
graduates to its Information Technology team, providing them with 
advanced training and development opportunities.

Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
continued
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Executive Management

From left

Abdulkareem A. Abu Alnasr   Chief Executive Officer

Faisal Al-Sakkaf   Senior Executive Vice President, Group Chief Financial Officer

AlSharif Khalid AlGhalib   Senior Executive Vice President, Head, Corporate Banking Sector

Adel Al Howar   Senior Executive Vice President, Head, Individual Banking Sector 

Donald P. Hill   Senior Executive Vice President, Head, International Sector 
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Brian Belcher   Senior Executive Vice President, Group Chief Risk Officer

Saud S. Sabban   Executive Vice President, Head, Human Resources Division 

David G. Jones   Senior Executive Vice President, Head, Services Sector

Abdulrazak M. Elkhraijy   Executive Vice President, Head, Islamic Banking Development Group

Zahid Hummusani   Executive Vice President, Head, Consumer Finance Sector
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Saudi Arabia’s economy had an exceptional year in 
2011, reminiscent of the performance witnessed in 
2008. The Kingdom’s year-on-year nominal GDP 
growth crossed the 20 percent mark for the first time 
since 2008, rising 28 percent to SR 2.16 trillion ($578 
billion) and boosting per capita income to SR 76,191 
($20,345), the highest on record. 

This continued solid performance is largely attributed to 
rising crude oil prices and production levels, and robust 
domestic demand spurred by a series of royal decrees 
announced in the first quarter. These amounted to an 
estimated SR 400 billion in supplementary spending, with 
SR 110 billion likely to have been disbursed during 2011.

Despite geopolitical tensions in the Middle East and the 
European sovereign debt crisis, Saudi light crude prices 
averaged $108 per barrel in 2011, 39 percent higher than 
average 2010 prices. 

Meanwhile, the economy grew by 6.8 percent in real terms, 
compared to 4.6 percent in 2010, on the back of increased 
oil production. Average crude oil output rose by 13.3 percent 
to 9.25 MMBD in 2011. 

The private sector also maintained its significant contribution 
to real GDP at 49 percent, growing by 8.3 percent in 
constant prices, which illustrates the growing role that 
private enterprises are assuming in the Saudi economy. 

The main drivers of private sector growth were the  
non-oil industrial, construction, and transportation and 
telecommunication sectors, which posted 15 percent,  
11.6 percent, and 10.1 percent annual growth, respectively.

The rapid rise of oil prices, coupled with increased 
production, propelled the Kingdom’s fiscal and external 
positions to substantial levels, near the historical highs of 
2008. The respective current and fiscal surpluses stood at 
27.6 percent and 14.1 percent of 2011 GDP. Government 
revenues recorded an exceptional gain, rising by 49.7 
percent to SR 1,110 billion ($296 billion). While Government 
expenditure rose by 23 percent from the previous year, to 
SR 804 billion ($215 billion), the budget surplus registered  
a sharp rise, amounting to SR 306 billion ($82 billion). 

The Government maintained its fiscal prudence strategy, 
evident in a sustained increase in deposits at the Saudi 
Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), which approached  
SR 1.19 trillion ($317 billion) by December 2011. 
Consequently, the Kingdom’s net foreign assets reached  
SR 2 trillion ($536 billion). 

In a number of industrial areas and remote regions, NCB is  
the only bank providing services tailored to SME and corporate 
clients, through its Corporate Service Centers.

Review of the Saudi Economy Review of the Saudi Economy 

Real GDP growth, contribution by sector
In 2011 the Saudi economy grew above pre-crisis levels. Growth is 
expected to slow in 2012, mainly due to contraction in the oil sector.  

  Y/Y growth in non-oil sector, contribution        Y/Y growth in oil sector, contribution    
  Real GDP growth rate 
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Implementing broad-based structural reforms over  
recent years has largely improved the Kingdom’s business 
environment and its attractiveness for foreign capital 
inflows. According to the World Investment Report 2011 
issued by the United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development (UNCTAD), Saudi Arabia was the largest FDI 
recipient in West Asia, with receipts totaling $28 billion in 
2010. Furthermore, the World Bank’s Doing Business 2012 
report ranked the Kingdom 12th out of 183 countries for 
ease of doing business. The 2011/12 Global Competitiveness 
Report prepared by the World Economic Forum also ranked 
Saudi Arabia at 17 out of 142 countries, ahead of China, 
Turkey, Brazil, and India.

In 2011, inflation inched lower to around 5.0 percent, largely 
driven by reduced imported inflation. Cost-push pressures 
over the short-term horizon clearly reversed direction, with 
commodities registering the first annual drop in three years. 
In particular, food prices kept inflation in check, as reflected 
by the S&P Goldman Sachs Agriculture Index, which posted 
a 14.9 percent fall in 2011, compared with a 44.5 percent 
year-on-year gain in 2010.

Against this backdrop, local food prices that had risen  
7.6 percent year-on-year in 2010, from just 1.0 percent in 
2009, are expected to remain range-bound at around 5.0 
percent during early 2012. Surprisingly, this abrupt fall in 
commodity prices has offset the demand-pull pressures that 
were anticipated from the royal decrees earlier in the year. 

The strong appreciation of the Dollar against the Euro  
and Sterling, by around 8.2 percent and 4.1 percent since 
August, will underpin the slide in imported inflation. On the 
domestic front, rental inflation will continue to be the prime 
contributor to inflation, albeit at a slower pace of increase, 
as witnessed since the third quarter of 2008. 

The cost of building materials is expected to have remained 
stable in 2011. Average prices for ready-mix concrete, iron, 
and cables recorded growth rates of -2.41 percent, -0.08 
percent, and 6.4 percent respectively in 2011, year-to-date, 
compared to 1.0 percent, 29.7, and 14.8 percent 
respectively in 2010. In the medium to longer term the royal 
decrees will come to fruition, starting in 2014 by exerting 
downward pressure on rental inflation as new housing units 
become available. 

The corporate appetite for borrowing returned to a higher 
trajectory, compared to lackluster performances in 2009 and 
2010, bringing total bank credit to the private sector to  
SR 825 billion ($220 billion) by the end of December 2011, a 
10 percent year-on-year growth. This rise was fueled by local 
currency liquidity in Saudi banks and growing  
economic activities. 
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Global oil market
Prices have risen due to supply-side constraints. Supplies should now 
ease, adding to downward pressure on prices from sluggish demand.  

  Average monthly crude production, MMBD (RHS)       

  Arabian Light spot price, US$/bbl (LHS)      Period average crude price, US$/bbl (LHS) 

Growth during 2011 was supported by broadened capabilities 
in Treasury, enhancing our ability to launch new products.

Review of the Saudi Economy 
continued
Review of the Saudi Economy 
continued
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Interestingly, Saudi banks’ unutilized excess reserves  
held by SAMA fell from SR 89 billion ($24 billion) to SR 60 
billion ($16 billion), reflecting the increased participation  
of domestic banks in high-profile project finance deals to 
top-tier borrowers such as the Saudi Arabian Mining Company 
(Maaden), Etihad-Etisalat (Mobily), and Saudi Arabia’s Power 
& Water Utility Company for Jubail & Yanbu (Marafiq). 

Despite loan pricing being depressed, thus exerting pressure 
on net special commission margins, Saudi banks were able 
to register 17.2 percent year-on-year growth in third quarter 
profits, mainly due to the growth in net fees from banking 
services and lower loan provisioning, as non-performing 
loans remained suppressed.

While the Kingdom’s economic fundamentals remain 
sound, the equity market languished in the red all year long. 
It registered a 3.1 percent decline over 2010 as global 
pessimism and fear took hold of retail investors, who dominate 
more than 90 percent of trading volumes. Market breadth 
expanded with the flotation of five initial public offerings, 
but the total size of offerings and average oversubscription 
fell to $461 million and 1.28 times respectively, down from 
$1.02 billion and 4.75 times in 2010. 

This demonstrated investors’ lack of appetite for primary 
issuances and secondary market trading. Nevertheless, on 
the fundamental side, corporate earnings are rising and 
prices indicate lucrative opportunities for investors, as the 
market price-earnings (PE) ratio reached 12.29, compared 
to 15.28 for 2010.

In 2011 work continued on several mega projects in the oil 
and gas, petrochemicals, infrastructure, and utilities sectors. 
The value of awarded contracts reached SR 270.3 billion in 
2011, showing that the expansion of construction activities 
continues to be a focal point of the economy. The value of 
contracts awarded far exceeds 2010’s total of SR 106.8 
billion, and surpassed the record SR 207 billion of 2009.  
This illustrates the Saudi Government’s continued emphasis 
on capital expenditure designed to improve the Kingdom’s 
physical and social infrastructure. 

Review of the Saudi Economy 
continued

External and fiscal balances
Current and fiscal account balances registered higher surpluses in 
2011 due to higher oil revenues. They are likely to moderate in 2012.  

Saudi Arabia’s public debt
Public debt has reduced sharply. The Government is now expected  
to gradually pay off all outstanding debt. 
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Economic environment 
The Saudi economy expanded sharply in 2011, registering nominal growth of 
28 percent. This is largely attributed to rising crude oil prices and production 
levels, and robust domestic demand spurred by a series of royal decrees 
targeting social needs announced in the first quarter. These amounted to an 
estimated SR 400 billion in supplementary spending, with SR 110 billion likely 
to have been disbursed during 2011.

Despite the geopolitical tensions in the Middle East and the European sovereign 
debt crisis, Saudi light crude prices averaged $108 per barrel in 2011, 39 percent 
higher than average 2010 prices. Also, the civil war in Libya enabled the 
Kingdom, as a swing producer, to increase daily crude production to offset 
the shortage in supply. Saudi output rose by 13.3 percent, averaging  
9.25 million barrels per day. 

This production increase accelerated real GDP growth to 6.8 percent year-on-
year, compared to 4.6 percent in 2010. Private sector GDP also remained 
strong, rising by 8.3 percent due to broad-based activity in the non-oil industrial, 
construction, and transportation sectors. 

High crude oil prices and output levels contributed to current and fiscal 
account surpluses for 2011, standing at 27.6 percent and 14.1 percent  
of GDP respectively. While government expenditure rose by 23 percent  
over 2010 to SR 804 billion, government revenues recorded a gain of  
49.7 percent to SR 1,110 billion. Consequently, the fiscal budget for 2011 
recorded a sizable surplus of SR 306 billion. 

Despite these surpluses, fiscal prudence was evident in the sustained growth 
of government deposits at the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), 
where the Kingdom’s holdings of net foreign assets reached a record high of 
SR 1,973 billion by November 2011. Government debt fell to SR 135.5 billion, 
at only 6.3 percent of GDP, the world’s lowest. The debt is also entirely 
domestic, being mainly with the Kingdom’s two pension funds: the General 
Organization for Social Insurance and the Public Pension Agency. 

This scenario has underpinned significant capital inflows, with Saudi Arabia 
remaining West Asia’s largest recipient of foreign direct investment, estimated 
at $28 billion in 2010.

In 2011 work continued on several mega projects in the oil and gas, 
petrochemicals, infrastructure, and utilities sectors. The value of awarded 
contracts reached SR 179.5 billion through the first three quarters of 2011, 
showing that the expansion of construction activities continues to be a focal 
point of the economy. The value of contracts awarded far exceeds 2010’s 
total of SR 106.8 billion, and has potential to surpass the record SR 207 
billion of 2009. This illustrates the Saudi government’s continued emphasis 
on capital expenditure designed to improve the Kingdom’s physical and 
social infrastructure. 

Various initiatives supporting small- and medium-size enterprises also look 
promising, for example the ‘Kafala’ Loan Guarantee Program. This collaboration 
between the Ministry of Finance (represented by the Saudi Industrial 
Development Fund) and the local banks has played a significant role, 
facilitating credit to 1,588 local companies by issuing guarantees covering  
up to 80 percent of the financed amounts. Programs such as Kafala are critical 
to the Saudi economy, providing substantial indirect support for job creation.

Business review
At NCB we have continued to evolve our business along a sustained path, 
building strength while meeting our customers’ needs. This develops the 
successful approach that characterized our achievements last year.

The Bank continued to optimize its distribution and alternative channels in 
2011 through its branch and ATM relocation, refurbishment, and renovation 
programs. Seven new branches increased the total to 288 Kingdom-wide, 
while 165 ATMs were added to the network, bringing the total to 1,791. 

NCB’s customer base grew substantially to more than 2.8 million and 
customer transactions to more than 280 million, with 88 percent conducted 
electronically through alternative channels. Total remittance transactions 
exceeded 1.8 million, due to 12 new QuickPay centers opening. There are 
now 25 QuickPay centers, with another 13 currently planned.

The Individual Banking sector was reorganized during the year, which contributed 
positively towards achieving the Bank’s business objectives and growth.  
We continued to enhance operational platforms by investing in IT and 
network services to ensure the availability and resilience of customer channels. 
A Contact Center Business Continuity program was also implemented, 
enhancing NCB’s capacity to meet a wide-range of customer needs and services. 

In our Individual Banking portfolio of businesses, growth in personal finance 
was achieved by securing new payroll mandates and, building on this,  
strong marketing campaigns helped to boost demand for consumer lending. 
Similarly, demand for credit card products was also high, exemplified by our 
relaunch of the AlFursan card in partnership with Saudi Arabian Airlines.
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Corporate Banking sector had another record year, illustrated by significant 
growth in the corporate loans portfolio. The Bank gained market share and 
continued to augment the cross-selling of products and services. NCB has 
been well placed to secure a growing number of high-profile project finance 
deals, supporting the development of strategic industries such as mining, 
power, and contracting. 

In further support for the business sector, the Bank has extended its reach and 
improved services by establishing Corporate Service Centers in the Kingdom’s 
remote regions and industrial areas. In many of these locations, NCB is the only 
bank providing services tailored to corporate clients. New Corporate Service 
Centers opened in 2011 brought the total to 7, across the Kingdom. 

Against a continued backdrop of market volatility and geopolitical uncertainty, 
NCB Capital – our investment arm – continues to build a market-leading 
position. Today, it puts advice on asset allocation and a growing discretionary 
portfolio management business firmly at its center, alongside the firm’s 
highly regarded mutual funds. 

NCB Capital won 17 awards in 2011 for its businesses and funds, as well as for 
its high-profile research output. The firm is also the first and only investment 
provider in Saudi Arabia and the Middle East to be certified for business 
continuity management by the British Standards Institute.

Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası, the leading Turkish participation bank, in which 
NCB owns a 64.68 percent shareholding, continued to grow in 2011, despite 
the financial and economic challenges globally and in the domestic market. 
Total assets grew by 26.5 percent, the result of robust expansion in the 
bank’s loan portfolio and customer deposits, which rose by 30 percent and 
13.2 percent respectively.

Türkiye Finans’s branch network comprises 182 branches and is the second 
largest network in Turkey’s participation banking sector. The bank embarked 
upon two major projects in 2011. In customer segmentation, the bank 
refined its processes to provide improved offerings to certain segments.  
In process optimization, it streamlined key operational procedures. As a  
result, Türkiye Finans achieved net income of TRY 231.6 million in 2011 
(about SR 508 million), 12.4 percent higher than 2010.

NCB received several awards in 2011 for Straight Through Payment (STP)  
from leading international organizations. Two upgrades were the Network 
Operation Center and the New Generation Network, which improved security 
and enhanced service availability. 

The Bank also maintained its leadership in corporate social responsibility.  
A number of new programs were launched to enhance NCB’s strategic 
partnerships and geographic coverage. Various initiatives included job 
opportunity programs that provided entrepreneurs with knowledge, support, 
and benevolent loans. The Bank also conducted a second study on 
government sector perceptions of corporate social responsibility in the 
Kingdom. Four prestigious awards related to corporate social responsibility 
were received during the year.

With NCB’s heightened focus on sustainability, the approach has been to 
‘embed within and reach out’. This included integrating sustainability into  
the Bank’s strategic 2015 goals and annual planning process. Looking  
at environmental achievements, the Bank has recorded energy savings 
averaging nine percent by installing power-saving equipment in 15 branches. 
Water meters were installed in 30 branches to measure current consumption 
and establish baselines for future energy-saving initiatives. 

Employees
NCB has continued to build capacity as part of its ongoing effort to recruit, 
develop, and retain quality personnel. It continues to invest in people and 
organizational effectiveness, focusing on engagement, development and 
cross-departmental collaboration, creating a platform for fulfilling its long-
term ambitions. 

The total number of staff reached 5,879 by the year end, and the Bank’s 
Saudization rate rose to 90 percent. 

In 2011, the fourth Corporate Associate Program (CAP4) was launched, 
recruiting high-quality young Saudi graduates for the Corporate Banking 
sector. A new version of the Management Associate Program (MAP) was also 
launched to accelerate the development of staff working within the retail 
branch network. 

In a program aimed at serving its high-net worth and institutional clients, 
NCB Capital launched a professional accreditation program for wealth managers 
in conjunction with the Chartered Institute for Securities and Investment.

Financial results 
NCB achieved net income of SR 6,012 million in 2011, an increase of 27.3 percent 
over 2010. This outstanding result is mainly due to NCB’s ability to optimally 
deploy its assets, its strategy of diversifying income sources, the increase  
in revenue from core operations, and achieving a 12.5 percent reduction  
in operating costs. 

Fee income from banking services increased by 5.8 percent in 2011; foreign 
exchange income increased by 36 percent; and gains on sale of investments 
rose to SR 325 million, compared to SR 283 million in 2010. Despite the 
prevailing low rates, net special commission income during the year increased 
by 5.3 percent to SR 8,581 million.

Shareholders’ equity increased by 8.3 percent to SR 35.6 billion, while customer 
deposits increased by 4.5 percent to SR 239.5 billion. Total assets increased 
by 6.7 percent to reach SR 301.2 billion. This increase was reflected in 
expanded lending activities, with the loan portfolio increasing by 7.7 percent 
to SR 135.3 billion.
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NCB continued to effectively manage credit risk, taking provisions in 2011  
in accordance with its prudent provisioning methodology. As a result,  
its coverage ratio increased to 140.9 percent in 2011, up from 116.9 percent 
the previous year.

In 2011 the Bank improved its return on equity to 18.4 percent, up  
from 15.6 percent in 2010. Meanwhile, its Pillar 1 capital adequacy ratio  
(tiers 1 and 2) was 18.2 percent.

NCB also maintained its A+ rating from Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings. 
This is the highest rating given to any bank in Saudi Arabia and reflects NCB’s 
financial strength and high liquidity levels, as well as its leading local and 
regional position.

Appropriation of net income
The Board of Directors recommends that net income for the year 2011 
attributable to equity holders of the Parent company be appropriated as follows:

SR ’000

Net Income for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent 6,011,751

Net Income for the year attributable to equity holders of the 
Parent is appropriated as follows: 

Transfer to Statutory Reserve 1,449,159

Transfers to Reserve related to Beirut branch 449

Zakat 452,764

Interim paid Dividend (SR 0.8 per share) 1,196,780

Final proposed Dividend (SR 1 per share) 1,495,975

Transfer to Retained Earnings 1,416,624

Net Income for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent 6,011,751

Directors’ remuneration
Annual remuneration of the Board of Directors and its related committees  
for the year totaled SR 8,473 thousand (2010: SR 7,440 thousand). Attendance 
fees for the Board and related committees totaled SR 486 thousand  
(2010: SR 615 thousand). Travel and related expenses were SR 142 thousand 
(2010: SR 222 thousand).

Auditors
At the annual ordinary general meeting of shareholders held on April 2, 2011 
(corresponding to 28/04/1432H), KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan and Ernst & 
Young were reappointed as joint external auditors to the Bank for the financial 
year ending December 31, 2011.

Gratitude
The Board of Directors expresses sincere appreciation to the Custodian  
of the Two Holy Mosques, King Abdullah Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saud; His Royal 
Highness Prince Naif Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saud, the Crown Prince, Deputy Prime 
Minister and Minister of the Interior; and all Government ministers. The Board 
also extends thanks to the Ministry of Finance, the Saudi Arabian Monetary 
Agency, and the Capital Market Authority for their continued support and 
backing of the Saudi banking sector. This support has been clearly reflected 
by the economic growth of the Kingdom.

The Board also expresses appreciation to NCB’s shareholders, who again 
demonstrated unwavering support for the Bank’s business strategies, and 
acknowledges the loyalty of customers, whose continued patronage is 
fundamental to its success. The Bank’s employees represent an invaluable 
asset, and we pay tribute to the hard work and dedication they have displayed 
in achieving such encouraging results and responding so positively to the 
challenges they faced.

May the peace, mercy, and blessings of Allah be upon you.

Board of Directors

32 Board of Directors’ Report  



Ernst & Young
P. O. Box 1994
Jeddah 21441
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan 
P. O. Box 55078
Jeddah 21534
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

To the Shareholders of The National Commercial Bank:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The National Commercial Bank, a Saudi Joint Stock Company, and its subsidiaries  
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and explanatory notes from 1 to 45 for the year then ended, other than note 40.2 and the information 
related to ‘Basel II Pillar 3 disclosures’ cross-referenced therein, which is not required to be within the scope of our audit.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards for 
Financial Institutions issued by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency, International Financial Reporting Standards, the provisions of the Regulations for Companies, 
the Banking Control Law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s Articles of Association. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole:

•	 	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	consolidated	financial	position	of	the	Group	as	at	31	December	2011,	and	its	consolidated	financial	performance	
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Accounting Standards for Financial Institutions issued by the Saudi Arabian 
Monetary Agency and with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

•	 	comply	with	the	requirements	of	the	Regulations	for	Companies,	the	Banking	Control	Law	in	the	Kingdom	of	Saudi	Arabia	and	the	Bank’s	Articles	of	Association	
in so far as they affect the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

Ernst & Young KPMG Al Fozan & Al Sadhan

Ahmed I. Reda
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 356

8 Rabi Al-Awal 1433H
31 January 2012
Jeddah

Tareq Abdulrahman Al Sadhan
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 352
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Note
2011 

SR ’000 
2010

SR ’000 

ASSETS 
Cash and balances with SAMA 4 24,702,024 27,932,539
Due from banks and other financial institutions 5 11,561,490 11,846,431
Investments, net 6 120,489,168 108,065,249
Loans and advances, net 7 135,289,496 125,597,091
Investment in associates, net 8 838,575 827,465
Other real estate, net 9 249,169 279,665
Property and equipment, net 10 2,317,353 2,097,005
Intangible assets, net 11 626,308 922,677
Goodwill, net 11 604,635 734,744
Other assets 12 4,519,943 4,069,126
Total assets 301,198,161 282,371,992

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and other financial institutions 14 19,939,666 14,331,698
Customers’ deposits 15 239,457,558 229,160,181
Other liabilities 16 6,215,683 6,023,420
Total liabilities 265,612,907 249,515,299

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital 17 15,000,000 15,000,000
Treasury shares 17 & 42 (177,093) (177,093)
Statutory reserve 18 12,105,333 10,655,725
Other reserves (cumulative changes in fair values) 19 1,918,274 1,318,720
Retained earnings 5,226,884 3,807,791
Proposed dividend 29 1,495,975 1,495,975
Foreign currency translation reserve (1,404,155) (828,860)
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 34,165,218 31,272,258
Non-controlling interests 1,420,036 1,584,435
Total shareholders’ equity 35,585,254 32,856,693
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 301,198,161 282,371,992

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

34 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2011 and 2010



Note
2011

SR’000
2010

SR’000

Special commission income 21 10,185,103 9,711,254
Special commission expense 21 (1,603,677) (1,561,452)
Net special commission income 8,581,426 8,149,802

Fee income from banking services, net 22 2,631,332 2,487,858
Foreign exchange income, net 474,305 348,786
(Loss) income from FVIS investments, net 23 (86,704) 181,115
Trading income, net 24 147,469 151,154
Dividend income 25 65,626 65,781
Gains on non-trading investments, net 26 324,940 282,760
Operating income 12,138,394 11,667,256

Salaries and employee-related expenses 2,480,154 2,336,251
Rent and premises-related expenses 449,452 401,569
Depreciation of property and equipment 10 352,377 335,156
Amortisation of intangible assets 11.1 197,880 235,557
Other general and administrative expenses 1,269,856 1,163,370
Impairment charge for credit losses, net 7.3 1,033,317 1,831,560
Impairment charge on investments, net 6.5 22,000 52,883
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets 11 – 277,153
Operating expenses 5,805,036 6,633,499
Income from operations, net 6,333,358 5,033,757

Other (expenses) 
Donations (53,856) (67,503)
Other non-operating (expenses), net 27 (173,383) (162,850)
Net other (expenses) (227,239) (230,353)
Net income for the year 6,106,119 4,803,404

Net income for the year attributable to:
 Equity holders of the Parent 6,011,751 4,723,835
 Non-controlling interest 94,368 79,569
Net income for the year 6,106,119 4,803,404
Basic and diluted earnings per share (expressed in SR per share) 28 4.02 3.16

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note
2011

SR ’000 
2010

SR ’000 

Net income for the year 6,106,119 4,803,404 

Other comprehensive income (loss):
 Net changes arising during the year:
 Revaluation gains on cash flow hedges, net (effective portion) 13 80,561 22,122 
 Revaluation gains on available for sale investments (AFS), net 738,805 1,136,020 
 Foreign currency translation reserve - (losses) (828,323) (110,417)

Transfers to consolidated income statement:
 Fair value (gains) on cash flow hedges 13 (53,095) (77,913)
 (Gains) on non-trading investments, net (AFS) (209,630) (228,666)
 Impairment charge on investments (AFS) 22,000 89,644 
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (249,682) 830,790 
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,856,437 5,634,194 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
 Equity holders of the parent 6,036,010 5,595,359 
 Non-controlling interest (179,573) 38,835 
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,856,437 5,634,194 

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

36 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010



Note

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Non-
controlling

interests
SR’ 000

Total
SR’ 000

Share
capital
SR’ 000

Treasury
shares

SR’ 000

Statutory
reserve
SR’ 000

 Other reserves

Retained
earnings

SR’ 000

Proposed
dividend

SR’ 000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve
SR’ 000

Total
SR’ 000

Available
for sale

financial
assets

SR’ 000

Cash flow
hedge

SR’ 000

2011

Balance as at 1 January 2011 15,000,000 (177,093) 10,655,725 1,289,301 29,419 3,807,791 1,495,975 (828,860) 31,272,258 1,584,435 32,856,693

Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) for the year – – – 572,088 27,466 6,011,751 – (575,295) 6,036,010 (179,573) 5,856,437

Transfer to statutory reserve – – 1,449,159 – – (1,449,159) – – – – –

Transfer related to Lebanon branch – – 449 – – (449) – – – – –

Adjustments in non-controlling 
interest and subsidiaries – – – – – 2,469 – – 2,469 16,249 18,718

Proposed final dividend for 2011 29 – – – – – (1,495,975) 1,495,975 – – – –

Zakat - NCB & NCBC  
(included in other liabilities) 16 – – – – – (452,764) – – (452,764) (1,075) (453,839)

Dividend paid for 2011  
(interim) & 2010 (final) 29 – – – – – (1,196,780) (1,495,975) – (2,692,755) – (2,692,755)

Balance as at 31 December 2011 15,000,000 (177,093) 12,105,333 1,861,389 56,885 5,226,884 1,495,975 (1,404,155) 34,165,218 1,420,036 35,585,254

2010

Balance as at 1 January 2010 15,000,000 (177,093) 9,524,343 281,941 85,210 3,061,538 2,243,963 (748,815) 29,271,087 1,589,072 30,860,159

Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) for the year – – – 1,007,360 (55,791) 4,723,835 – (80,045) 5,595,359 38,835 5,634,194

Transfer to statutory reserve – – 1,251,319 – – (1,251,319) – – – – –

Transfer related to Lebanon branch – – 911 – – (911) – – – – –

Adjustments in non-controlling 
interest and subsidiaries – – (120,848) – – 128,257 – – 7,409 (43,106) (35,697)

Proposed final dividend for 2010 29 – – – – – (1,495,975) 1,495,975 – – – –

Zakat - NCB & NCBC  
(included in other liabilities) 16 – – – – – (160,854) – – (160,854) (366) (161,220)

Dividend paid for 2010  
(interim) & 2009 (final) 29 – – – – – (1,196,780) (2,243,963) – (3,440,743) – (3,440,743)

Balance as at 31 December 2010 15,000,000 (177,093) 10,655,725 1,289,301 29,419 3,807,791 1,495,975 (828,860) 31,272,258 1,584,435 32,856,693

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note
2011

SR ’000 
2010

SR ’000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year 6,106,119 4,803,404

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities: 
(Accretion of discounts) amortization of premium on non-trading investments, net (3,188) 52,294
Amortisation of discount on debt securities issued – 564
(Gains) on non-trading investments, net 26 (324,940) (282,760)
(Gains) on disposal of property and equipment, net 27 (13,749) (9,606)
(Gains) on disposal of other real estate, net 27 (471) (2,275)
Depreciation of property and equipment 10 352,377 335,156
Amortisation of intangible assets 11 197,880 235,557
Impairment charge for credit losses, net 7.3 1,033,317 1,831,560
Bank’s share in associates’ losses 27 12,658 17,274
Impairment charge on investments, net 6.5 22,000 52,883
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets 11 – 277,153
Provision for unrealized revaluation losses of other real estate 27 6,365 5,645

7,388,368 7,316,849

Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing after 90 days (1,751,250) –
Statutory deposits with SAMA (1,643,065) (1,662,730)
Held for trading investments 78,600 726,966
Held as fair value through income statement (FVIS) investments 1,338,356 (191,663)
Loans and advances (10,725,722) (15,271,011)
Other real estate 11,884 3,853
Other assets (412,841) (1,294,190)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Due to banks and other financial institutions 5,607,968 (1,243,323)
Customers’ deposits 10,297,377 26,577,673
Other liabilities (260,565) 88,388
Net cash from operating activities 9,929,110 15,050,812

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

38 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010



Note
2011

SR ’000 
2010

SR ’000 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale and maturities of non-trading / non-FVIS investments 118,256,283 71,978,250
Purchase of non-trading / non-FVIS investments (131,049,879) (81,979,460)
Purchase of property and equipment 10 (647,191) (301,363)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 34,577 17,060
Investment in associates (23,768) –
Net cash (used in) investing activities (13,429,978) (10,285,513)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net movement in non-controlling interest (2,532) (4,637)
Settlement of debt securities issued – (2,625,000)
Dividends paid for 2011 (interim) (1,196,780) (1,196,780)
Dividends paid for 2010 (final) (1,495,975) (2,243,963)
Cash (used in) financing activities (2,695,287) (6,070,380)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,196,155) (1,305,081)
Foreign currency translation reserve - net movement on cash and cash equivalents (713,616) (88,220)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 27,625,299 29,018,600
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 30 20,715,528 27,625,299
Special commission received during the year 10,101,061 9,774,565
Special commission paid during the year 1,573,480 1,649,848
Supplemental non-cash information
Net change in fair value and transfer to consolidated statement of income 599,554 961,195
Acquisition of available for sale investment (equities) 43 – 1,076,566

The accompanying notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. GENERAL

(1.1) Introduction
The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the National Commercial Bank (the Bank) and its subsidiaries (the Group).

The National Commercial Bank (the Bank) is a Saudi Joint Stock Company formed pursuant to Cabinet Resolution No. 186 on 22 Dhul Qida 1417H (30 March 1997) and Royal 
Decree No. M/19 on 23 Dhul Qida 1417H (31 March 1997), approving the Bank’s conversion from a General Partnership to a Saudi Joint Stock Company.

The Bank commenced business as a partnership under registration certificate authenticated by a Royal Decree on 28 Rajab 1369H (15 May 1950) and registered under commercial 
registration No. 4030001588 issued on 27 Dhul Hijjah 1376H (24 July 1957). The Bank initiated business in the name of “The National Commercial Bank” under Royal Decree  
No. 3737 on 20 Rabi Thani 1373H (26 December 1953). The date of 1 July 1997 was determined to be the effective date of the Bank’s conversion from a General Partnership  
to a Saudi Joint Stock Company.

The Bank operates through its 288 branches (2010: 284 branches), 7 corporate service centres (2010: 6 centres) and 25 QuickPay remittance centers (2010:13 centers) in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia and two overseas branches (Lebanon and Bahrain) in addition to the subsidiaries as detailed below. The Group’s Head Office is located at the following address:

The National Commercial Bank 
Head Office 
King Abdul Aziz Street 
P.O. Box 3555 
Jeddah 21481, Saudi Arabia 
www.alahli.com

The objective of the Group is to provide a full range of banking services. The Group also provides non-special commission based banking products in compliance with Shariah 
rules, which are approved and supervised by an independent Shariah Board.

(1.2) Group’s subsidiaries 
The details of the Group’s subsidiaries are as follows:

(a) NCB Capital Company
In April 2007, the Bank formed a capital market company, namely, NCB Capital Company, a Saudi Joint Stock Company formed in accordance with Capital Market Authority’s Resolution 
No. 2-83-2005 dated 21 Jumad Awal 1426H (28 June 2005), and registered in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Bank has 90.71% (2010: 90.42%) direct ownership interest  
in NCB Capital Company and an indirect ownership of 3.83% (2010: 5.90%) (the indirect ownership is held via an intermediary Trust for future grant to NCB Capital employees).

(b) Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, .
The Bank has 64.68% (2010: 64.68%) direct ownership interest in Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, . (the Turkish Bank). The Turkish Bank operates as a participation bank, by collecting 
funds through current accounts and profit sharing accounts, and lending funds to consumer and corporate customers, through finance leases and profit/loss sharing partnerships.

(c) Eastgate Capital Holdings Inc. (Eastgate)
The Group has 72.80% (2010: 74.17%) effective ownership interest in Eastgate Capital Holdings Inc., a Middle East-based private equity firm acquired through its subsidiary, NCB 
Capital. NCB Capital Company acquired 77% direct ownership interest and the remaining 23% is owned by the management of Eastgate.

(d) The Capital Partnership Group Limited (TCP)
NCB Capital Company acquired 100% ownership interest of The Capital Partnership Group Limited on 1 October 2008. On 30 June 2009, NCB Capital disposed off its 22% 
ownership interest in this subsidiary without losing control. TCP was incorporated and registered in the Dubai International Financial Centre on 1 November 2006. Its principal 
activity is providing investment management services.

(e) Real Estate Development Company
The Bank formed Real Estate Development Company (the Company) as a Limited Liability Company registered in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia under Commercial Registration 
number 4030146558 dated 21 Dhul Qa’da 1424H (corresponding to 13 January 2004). The Bank has 100% ownership (2010: 100%) in the Company. The objectives of the 
Company primarily include keeping and managing property title deeds in the name of the Bank or others (as collateral); registering such title deeds in its name; purchasing land 
and constructing buildings on such land for future sale or lease.

40 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2011



2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(2.1) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting standards for financial institutions promulgated by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Group also prepares its consolidated financial statements to comply with the Banking Control Law, the Regulations for 
Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s Articles of Association.

(2.2) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the measurement at fair value of derivatives, financial assets held for trading, 
held at Fair Value through Income Statement (FVIS) and available for sale investments. In addition, financial assets or liabilities that are carried at cost but are hedged in a fair value 
hedging relationship are carried at fair value to the extent of the risk being hedged.

(2.3) Presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals (SR) and have been rounded off to the nearest thousand Saudi Riyals.

(2.4) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of “The National Commercial Bank” and its subsidiaries - NCB Capital and its subsidiaries, Türkiye Finans Katılım 
Bankası A.S, . (the Turkish Bank) and Real Estate Development Company. NCB Capital also consolidates the financial statements of Eastgate and the Capital Partnership Group in its 
consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the Group, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Bank has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanying an 
ownership interest of more than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Bank and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which the control is transferred from the Bank. The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year, if any, are included in the consolidated 
statement of income from the date of the acquisition or up to the date of disposal, as appropriate.

Non-controlling interest represent the portion of net income and net assets of subsidiaries not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Bank in its subsidiaries and are presented separately 
in the consolidated statement of income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Any losses applicable 
to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Inter-group balances, income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from inter-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

(2.5) Critical accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Such judgments, estimates and 
assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including obtaining professional advice and expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Revision to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and any future period affected.

Significant areas where management has used estimates, assumptions or exercised judgments are as follows:

(a) Impairment charge for credit losses
The Group reviews its non-performing loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether a specific provision for credit losses should be recorded in the consolidated 
statement of income. In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of provision 
required. Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the specific provision.

The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess an additional portfolio (collective) provision on a periodic basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded,  
the Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans. 
This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence 
of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when estimating its cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and the timing of future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION CONTINuED

(2.5) Critical accounting judgments and estimates continued

(b) Fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in an active market
The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, valuation models) 
are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of those that created the model. To the extent practical, models 
use only observable market data; however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. The judgments 
include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for longer dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset-backed 
securities. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of financial instruments. 

(c) Impairment of available for sale equity investments
The Group exercises judgment to consider impairment on the available for sale equity investments. This includes determination of a significant or prolonged decline in the fair 
value below its cost. The determination of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal 
volatility in share price. In addition, the Group considers impairment to be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and 
sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

The Group considers 30% or more, as a reasonable measure for significant decline below its cost, irrespective of the duration of the decline, and is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income as impairment charge on investments. Prolonged decline represents decline below cost that persists for 1 year or longer irrespective of the amount and is, 
thus, recognized in the consolidated statement of income as impairment charge on investments.

(d) Classification of held to maturity investments
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as held to maturity. In making this 
judgment, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. 

(e) Going concern
The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date or more frequently to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The fair value less cost to sell is based on observable market 
prices or, if no observable market prices exist, estimated prices for similar assets or if no estimated prices for similar assets are available, then based on discounted future cash 
flow calculations.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups 
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units or groups of units.

The subsidiaries are regarded as a cash-generating unit for the purpose of impairment testing of their respective goodwill. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units 
and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets including the intangible assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis on condition that the carrying amount of 
other assets should not be reduced below their fair values.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the 
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance 
is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus cumulative foreign currency translation reserve and unimpaired goodwill is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income.

The previously recognized impairment loss in respect of goodwill and equity investments cannot be reversed through the consolidated statement of income.
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In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.  
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Except for the change in accounting policies as detailed in note 3.1 below, the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are consistent with 
those used in the previous year.

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

(3.1) Change in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the Bank’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 except for the 
adoption of following amendments and revisions to existing standards mentioned below which has had no financial impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group:

(a) IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures (revised in 2009):
 The revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures amends the definition of a related party and modifies certain related party disclosure requirements for government-related entities.

(b) Amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Transfers of Financial Assets):
These amendments introduce new disclosure requirements about transfers of financial assets, including disclosures for:

•	financial	assets	that	are	not	derecognised	in	their	entirety;	and 
•	financial	assets	that	are	derecognised	in	their	entirety	but	for	which	the	entity	retains	continuing	involvement.

(c) Improvements to IFRSs in 2010 – IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
 The amendments add an explicit statement that qualitative disclosure should be made in the context of the quantitative disclosures to better enable users to evaluate an entity’s 
exposure to risks arising from financial instruments. In addition, the IASB amended and removed certain existing disclosure requirements. 

(d) Improvements to IFRSs in 2010 – IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
 IAS 1 is amended to clarify that disaggregation of changes in each component of equity arising from transactions recognised in other comprehensive income also is required  
to be presented, but is permitted to be presented either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes.

(e) Improvements to IFRSs in 2010 – IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes:
 The amendments clarifies that the fair value of award credits takes into account the amount of discounts or incentives that otherwise would be offered to customers that have 
not earned the award credits.

(f) Other amendments resulting from the improvements to the IFRSs to the following standards did not have any material financial impact on the accounting 
policies, financial position and performance of the Group:
•	IFRS	3	-	Business	Combinations
•		IFRS	7	-	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures	(related	to	maximum	credit	exposure,	collateral,	and	renegotiated	loans)
•	IAS	27	-	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements
•	IAS	32	-	Financial	Instruments:	Presentation

(3.2) Investment in associates
Associates are enterprises over which the Bank exercises significant influence. Investments in associates are initially recognized at cost and subsequently accounted for under  
the equity method of accounting and are carried in the balance sheet at the lower of the equity-accounted or the recoverable amount.

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Bank exerts control (see note 2.4). Where the Bank does not have effective control but has significant influence, such investment is then 
regarded as an associate and accounted for under the equity accounting method (see note 8).

Equity-accounted value represents the cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Bank’s share of net assets of the associate (share of the results, reserves and accumulated gains/
losses based on latest available financial statements) less impairment, if any.

The previously recognized impairment loss in respect of investment in associate can be reversed through the consolidated statement of income, such that the carrying amount 
of investment in the balance sheet remains at the lower of the equity-accounted (before provision for impairment) or the recoverable amount.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINuED

(3.3) Settlement date accounting
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on the settlement date, i.e. the date on which the asset is delivered to the counterparty. 
When settlement date accounting is applied, the Group accounts for any change in fair value between the trade date and the settlement date in the same way as it accounts for 
the acquired asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the market place.

(3.4) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, special commission rate futures, forward rate agreements, currency and special commission rate swaps, swaptions, 
currency and special commission rate options (both written and purchased) are measured at fair value. All derivatives are carried at their fair values classified under other assets where the 
fair value is positive and under other liabilities where the fair value is negative. Fair values are obtained by reference to quoted market prices and valuation models as appropriate.

(3.4.1) Derivatives held for trading
Any changes in the fair value of derivatives that are held for trading purposes are taken directly to the consolidated statement of income for the year and are disclosed in trading 
income. Derivatives held for trading also include those derivatives, which do not qualify for hedge accounting as described below. 

(3.4.2) Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories:

(a)  Fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability, or an unrecognized firm commitment or an identified portion of 
such an asset, liability or firm commitment, that is attributable to a particular risk and could affect the reported net gain or loss; and

(b)  Cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability  
or to a highly probable forecasted transaction that will affect the reported net gain or loss.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedge should be expected to be highly effective, i.e. the changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument should 
effectively offset corresponding changes in the hedged item, and should be reliably measurable. At inception of the hedge, the risk management objective and strategy is 
documented including the identification of the hedging instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of risk being hedged, and how the Group will assess the effectiveness  
of the hedging relationship. Subsequently, the hedge is required to be assessed and determined to be an effective hedge on an ongoing basis.

In relation to fair value hedges, which meet the criteria for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments to fair value is recognized immediately 
in the consolidated statement of income. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to fair value changes relating to the risks being hedged is adjusted against the carrying 
amount of the hedged item and recognized in the consolidated statement of income (in the same line item as hedging instrument). Where the fair value hedge of a special commission 
bearing financial instrument ceases to meet the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment in the carrying value is amortised to the consolidated statement of income over 
the remaining life of the instrument.

In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the criteria for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 
hedge is recognized initially in other reserves under shareholders’ equity and the ineffective portion, if any, is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. For cash flow 
hedges affecting future transactions, the gains or losses recognized in other reserves, are transferred to the consolidated statement of income in the same period in which the 
hedged transaction affects the consolidated statement of income.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument is expired or sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, or the forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur or the Bank revokes the designation. At that point of time, any cumulative gain or loss on the cash flow hedging instrument that was recognized  
in other reserves is retained in shareholders’ equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. Where the hedged forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative 
gain or loss recognized in other reserves is transferred to the consolidated statement of income.

(3.5) Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals, which is the Group’s presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The functional currency of NCB and NCB Capital is Saudi Riyals. The functional 
currency for the Turkish Bank is Turkish Lira and the functional currency of Eastgate and TCP is u.S. Dollar.

(a) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the spot exchange rates prevailing at transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities at the year-end, 
denominated in foreign currencies, are retranslated into functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Foreign exchange gains or losses on translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Non-monetary assets measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
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(b) Foreign subsidiaries
As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s presentation currency (Saudi Riyals) at the rate of exchange ruling  
at the statement of financial position date, shareholders equity (pre-acquisition) is translated at historical exchange rate at the date of acquisition and income and expenses  
of the statement of income are translated at the spot exchange rates prevailing at transaction dates on daily basis. Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly 
to a separate component of equity (foreign currency translation reserve) and are recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. However, if the operation  
is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the foreign exchange translation reserve is allocated to the non-controlling interest. The deferred 
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in equity will be recognised in the income statement in ‘Other operating expenses’ or ‘Other operating income’ at the 
time of any future disposal or partial disposal with loss of control.

Goodwill and intangible assets arising on the acquisition of the foreign subsidiary and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign subsidiary and translated at the closing rate.

(3.6) Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 
amounts and when the Group intends to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(3.7) Revenue / expenses recognition
Special commission income and expense for all special commission-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified as held for trading or designated at fair value through 
income statement (FVIS), including fees which are considered an integral part of the effective yield of a financial instrument, are recognized in the consolidated statement of income 
on the effective yield basis including premiums amortised and discounts accreted during the year. The effective special commission rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating 
the effective special commission rate, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but not future credit losses.

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated 
based on the original effective special commission rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as special commission income or expense.

The calculation of the effective special commission rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction costs and discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective 
special commission rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of financial asset or liability.

When the Group enters into a special commission rate swap to change special commission from fixed to floating (or vice versa), the amount of special commission income or expense 
is adjusted by the net special commission on the swap to the extent hedge is considered to be effective.

Foreign exchange income from banking services are recognized when earned. Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividend income is established.

Fees income is recognized on an accrual basis as the service is provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred and recognized as an 
adjustment to the effective yield on the loan, if material. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fee income are recognized based on the applicable service 
contracts, usually on a time-proportionate basis. Fee income received on other services that are provided over an extended period of time, are recognized rateably over the 
period when the service is being provided, if material.

(3.8) Trading income, net
Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related special commission income or expense, dividends for financial assets held 
for trading and foreign exchange differences on open positions. This also includes any ineffective portion of the gain or loss on hedging instruments.

(3.9) Sale and repurchase agreements
Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) continue to be recognized in the statement of financial position and are measured 
in accordance with related accounting policies for investments held for trading, available for sale, held to maturity and other investments held at amortised cost. The counterparty 
liability for amounts received under these agreements is included in “due to banks and other financial institutions or customers’ deposits”, as appropriate. The difference between 
sale and repurchase price is treated as special commission expense which is accrued over the life of the repo agreement using the effective special commission rate.

Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repo) are not recognized in the statement of financial position, as the Group does 
not obtain control over the assets. Amounts paid under these agreements are included in “cash and balances with SAMA, due from banks and other financial institutions or loans 
and advances”, as appropriate. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as special commission income which is accrued over the life of the reverse repo agreement 
using the effective yield basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINuED

(3.10) Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The cost of an acquisition, being total consideration of the acquisition, is measured as the 
fair value of the assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition that occured prior to 1 January 2010. 
Identifiable assets acquired (including previously unrecognized intangible assets) and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) in an acquisition are measured initially at fair values 
at the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recognised as goodwill. The Group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value, or at its proportionate share of the 
recognised amount of the identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity  
as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. 
Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. 
Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest 
is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investments or other categories of investments in accordance 
with the relevant Group’s accounting policy.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value  
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses; impairment loss of goodwill is charged to the consolidated income statement. 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying value may be impaired.

(3.11) Intangible assets
Current balance of intangible assets in the statement of financial position includes customer deposits relationships, the value of the subsidiary’s brands, and other banking relationships 
(asset management, private equity and trust structure). Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their estimated useful economic life.  
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected 
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of income under 
amortization of intangible assets.

Amortisation of intangible assets is calculated using the straight-line method over their estimated remaining useful lives of 5-6 years.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

(3.12) Investments
All investment securities are financial assets which are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given, including incremental direct transaction cost except 
for those transaction charges related to investments held as FVIS or for trading, which are not added to the cost at initial recognition and are charged to the consolidated statement 
of income. Premiums are amortised and discounts accreted using the effective yield basis and are taken to special commission income.

For securities that are traded in organised financial markets, the fair value is determined by reference to exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the consolidated 
statement of financial position date. Fair value of managed assets and investments in mutual funds are determined by reference to declared net asset values.

For securities where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which 
is substantially the same, or is based on the expected cash flows of the security. Where the fair values cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety 
of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible,  
a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values with non-observable market data.

Following initial recognition, subsequent transfers between the various classes of investments are not ordinarily permissible.
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The subsequent period-end accounting treatment for each class of investment are determined on the basis as set out in the following paragraphs:

(a) Held for trading
Investments classified as held for trading are acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term.

Securities which are held for trading are subsequently measured at fair value and any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in the consolidated statement  
of income in the period in which it arises and are disclosed as trading income.

(b) Held at fair value through income statement (FVIS)
Investments can be designated as FVIS at inception except for equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair values cannot be 
reliably measured. These include all hedge funds investments that are managed, by the Group directly or indirectly, and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.  
The Group also classifies some compound debt instruments as Fair Value through Income Statement (FVIS). under this option, the Group fair values the entire instrument instead 
of separating the embedded derivative from the host contract and carrying the host at amortised cost.

After initial recognition, investments at FVIS are measured at fair value and any change in the fair value is recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the period  
in which it arises and are disclosed as income from FVIS investments.

(c) Available for sale
Available-for-sale investments are those equity and debt securities, that are intended to be held for an unspecified period of time, which may be sold in response to needs  
for liquidity or changes in special commission rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Investments which are classified as available for sale are subsequently measured at fair value. Any unrealised gain or loss arising from a change in their fair value is recognized 
through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in “other reserves” under shareholders’ equity until the investments are derecognized or impaired. On derecognition, 
cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in shareholders’ equity are included in the consolidated statement of income for the period and are disclosed as gains/(losses)  
on non-trading investments.

Available for sale investments, where fair value cannot be reliably measured, are carried at cost.

For impairment of available for sale investments, see note 3.15(b).

(d) Held to maturity
Investments having fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity. 
Held to maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment in their value. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition using the effective yield method. Any gain or loss on such investments is recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the investment 
is derecognized or impaired.

Investments classified as held to maturity cannot ordinarily be sold or reclassified without impacting the Group’s ability to use this classification and cannot be designated as a hedged 
item with respect to special commission rate or prepayment risk, reflecting the intention to hold them to maturity.

(e) Other investments held at amortised cost
Investments having fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as other investments held at amortised cost. Such investments whose 
fair values have not been hedged are stated at amortised cost using an effective yield basis, less provision for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition using effective yield method. Any gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the investment is derecognized 
and are disclosed as gains/(losses) on non-trading investments.

(3.13) Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets originated or acquired by the Group with fixed or determinable payments.

Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are derecognized when either borrower repays their obligations, or the loans are sold or written 
off, or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred.

Loans and advances are initially measured at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given.

Following the initial recognition, loans and advances for which fair value has not been hedged are stated at cost less any amount written off and specific and portfolio (collective) 
provisions for impairment.

For presentation purposes, provision for credit losses is deducted from loans and advances.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINuED

(3.14) Due from banks and other financial institutions
Due from banks and other financial institutions are financial assets which are mainly money market placements with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are 
not quoted in an active market. Money market placements are not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale. Due from banks and other financial institutions 
are initially measured at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given.

Following the initial recognition, due from banks and other financial institutions are stated at cost less any amount written-off and specific provisions for impairment, if any, and  
a portfolio (collective) provision for counterparty risk.

(3.15) Impairment of financial assets
An assessment is made at the date of each statement of financial position to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets may be 
impaired. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and any impairment loss is recognized for changes in its carrying amount as follows:

(a) Impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost
A financial asset is classified as impaired when there is an objective evidence of credit-related impairment as a result of one or more loss event(s) that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and those loss events have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets and can be reliably estimated. 

A specific provision for credit losses, due to impairment of a loan or any other financial asset held at amortised cost, is established if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the specific provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable 
amount is the present value of expected cash flows, including amounts estimated to be recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the original effective yield basis.

In addition to a specific provision for credit losses of corporate loans, an additional portfolio provision for collective impairment is made on a portfolio basis for credit losses where 
there is an objective evidence that unidentified losses exist at the reporting date. These are based on any deterioration in the risk rating (i.e. downward migration of risk ratings) 
of the financial assets since it was originally granted. This provision is estimated based on various factors including credit ratings allocated to a borrower or group of borrowers, 
the current economic conditions, the experience the Group has had in dealing with a borrower or group of borrowers and available historical default information.

Consumer loans are considered to be impaired when a payment is overdue by 90 days or more. Since the risk metrics for consumer loans are based on a collective “pool” basis, 
rather than on individual loans, the provisions for consumer loans are also computed on a “pool basis” using the ‘flow rate” methodology. The provision coverage is 100% for such 
non-performing loans which reach the “write-off point” (write-off points are set at 180 days past due).

The carrying amount of the asset is adjusted through the use of a provision for impairment account and the amount of the adjustment is included in the consolidated statement 
of income.

(b) Impairment of financial assets held at fair value
In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, the Bank assesses individually whether there is an objective evidence of impairment based on the same criteria  
as financial assets carried at amortized cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortized cost and 
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss on debt instruments decreases upon subsequent increase in the fair value and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the issuer’s credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting 
the provision account. The amount of the reversal is recognized in the consolidated statement of income as provision for impairment on investment.

Where a loss has been recognized directly under shareholders’ equity, the cumulative net loss recognized in shareholders’ equity is transferred to the consolidated statement  
of income when the asset is considered to be impaired.

For equity investments held as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below its cost represents objective evidence of impairment [also see note 2.5(c)]. 
unlike debt securities, the previously recognized impairment loss of equity investments cannot be reversed through the consolidated statement of income as long as the asset 
continues to be recognized, that is, any increase in fair value, after impairment has been recorded, can only be recognized in equity.

The Group writes off its financial assets when the respective business units together with Risk Management determine that the financial assets are uncollectible. This determination 
is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower/issuer’s financial position such that the borrower/issuer can no longer  
pay the obligations, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure. The financial assets are, then, written off only in circumstances where 
effectively all possible means of recovery have been exhausted. For consumer loans, write off decisions are generally based on a product specific past due status. When a financial 
asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for impairment, if any, and any amounts in excess of available provision are directly charged to the consolidated 
statement of income.

Once a financial asset has been written down to its estimated recoverable amount, special commission income is thereafter recognised based on the rate of special commission 
that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.
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Loans whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are treated as new loans. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators  
or criteria which indicate that payment will most likely continue. The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment.

For impairment of non-financial assets, see note [2.5(f)].

(3.16) Other real estate
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, acquires certain real estate against settlement of due loans and advances. Such real estate are considered as assets held for sale 
and are initially stated at the lower of net realizable value of due loans and advances or the current fair value of such related assets, less any costs to sell (if material).

Subsequent to the initial recognition, such real estate are revalued on a periodic basis and adjusted for any subsequent provision for unrealized revaluation losses. Previously recognized 
unrealised revaluation losses of other real estates can be reversed through the consolidated statement of income on an individual basis upon subsequent increase in fair value. 
Any unrealised losses on revaluation (or reversal), realized losses or gains on disposal and net rental income are recognised in the consolidated statement of income as other non-
operating income/(expenses).

(3.17) Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and presented net of accumulated depreciation.

Freehold land is not depreciated. The cost of other property and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 40 years 
Leasehold improvements Over the lease period or 5 years, whichever is shorter 
Furniture, equipment and vehicles 4-10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the date of each statement of financial position.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the consolidated statement of income and are disclosed as other 
non-operating income (expenses).

All assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The carrying amount is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

(3.18) Financial liabilities
All money market deposits, customers’ deposits and debt securities issued are initially recognized at cost, net of transaction charges, being the fair value of the consideration received. 
Subsequently, all commission bearing financial liabilities, other than those held for trading or at FVIS or where fair values have been hedged, if any, are measured at amortised cost by 
taking into account any discount or premium. Premiums are amortised and discounts are accreted on an effective yield basis to maturity and taken to special commission expense.

(3.19) Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letter of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in 
the financial statements at fair value in other liabilities, being the value of the premium received. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is 
measured at the higher of the amortized premium and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligations arising as a result of guarantees. Any increase 
in the liability relating to the financial guarantee is taken to the consolidated statement of income as impairment charge for credit losses, net. The premium received is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of income as fee income from banking services on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee, if material.

The specific and portfolio (collective) provisions for letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances are included and presented under other liabilities.

(3.20) Provisions
Provisions (other than impairment or credit loss provisions) are recognized when a reliable estimate can be made by the Group for a present legal or constructive obligation  
as a result of past events and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation.

(3.21) Accounting for leases

(a) Where the Group is the lessee
All leases entered into by the Group are operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognized as an expense in  
the period in which termination takes place.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINuED

(3.21) Accounting for leases continued

(b) Where the Group is the lessor
When assets are sold under a finance lease, including assets under a lease arrangement in compliance with Shariah rules (Ijara), the present value of the lease payments is recognised 
as a receivable and disclosed under loans and advances. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance 
income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return and is disclosed as special 
commission income.

(3.22) Zakat and overseas income tax
Zakat is the liability of the shareholders. Zakat is computed on the higher of net adjusted income or adjusted shareholders’ equity using the basis defined under the Saudi Zakat 
Regulations. Zakat is paid by the Bank on their behalf and is not charged to the consolidated statement of income but is deducted from the gross dividend paid to the shareholders 
or charged to retained earnings as an appropriation of net income if no dividend has been distributed.

Overseas branches and subsidiaries are subject to income tax as per rules and regulations of country in which they are incorporated and such taxes are reported under  
non-operating expenses.

(3.23) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as those amounts included in cash, balances with SAMA, excluding statutory 
deposits, and due from banks and other financial institutions maturing within ninety days.

(3.24) Derecognition of financial instruments
A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset, or a part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized, when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expires.

In instances where the Group is assessed to have transferred a financial asset, the asset is derecognized if the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
Where the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, the financial asset is derecognized only if the Group has not retained 
control of the financial asset. The Group recognises separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the process.

A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) can only be derecognized when it is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the contract is either discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

(3.25) Investment management services
The financial statements of investment management mutual funds are not included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Transactions with the funds are disclosed 
under related party transactions; the Group’s share of these funds is included in held for trading investments.

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and its subsidiaries and, accordingly, are not included in the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group.

(3.26) Financing products in compliance with Shariah rules
In addition to conventional banking products, the Bank offers its customers certain non-special commission based financing products that comply with Shariah rules. These are 
approved and overseen by the Bank’s Shariah Board.

(3.26.1) Murabaha
Murabaha is a Shariah-compliant form of financing where the Bank, based on requests from its customers, purchases specific commodities and sells them to the customers  
at an agreed-upon price equal to the Bank’s cost plus a specified profit margin, which is payable on a deferred basis in agreed-upon installments.

(3.26.2) Tayseer
Tayseer Alahli is a Shariah-compliant financing instrument introduced by the Bank for customers in need of cash financing. It involves the Bank buying commodities from international 
or local markets and selling them to customers at agreed-upon deferred installment terms. Customers, on their own, or by appointing an agent, resell the commodities to third 
parties for cash.

(3.26.3) Ijara with a promise to transfer ownership
Ijara is a Shariah-compliant form of financing where the Bank, based on requests from customers, purchases assets with agreed-upon specifications on a cash basis and leases them  
to customers for an agreed-upon rent to be settled in agreed-upon installments. In the Ijara contract, the Bank promises to transfer ownership of the assets to its customers at 
the end the lease periods, either by sale at nominal prices or in the form of grants. 
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(3.26.4) Istisna’a
Istisna’a is a contract for the acquisition of assets to be manufactured in accordance with customer specifications. The Bank signs Istisna’a contracts with customers to provide 
specified assets at agreed-upon prices (equal to the Bank’s cost plus a specified profit margin) and payment terms. The Bank then signs parallel Istisna’a agreements with manufacturers 
for the delivery of these assets in return for settlement of the costs by the Bank.

All the above Shariah-compliant financing products are accounted for using IFRS and in conformity with the accounting policies described in these financial statements.  
They are included in loans and advances.

(3.27) Shariah-compliant deposit products
The Bank offers its customers certain deposit products that comply with Shariah rules. These are approved and overseen by the Bank’s Shariah Board.

(3.27.1) AlKhairaat
Alkhairaat is a Shariah-compliant product based on commodity Murabaha. The Bank acts as an agent for its customers in purchasing commodities on their behalf with their funds 
and then purchases these commodities for its own account from customers at agreed-upon price and deferred maturities (3,6,9 or 12 months). Being a retail product, customers 
are allowed to choose the investment amount, tenure, and currency. Since the Bank purchases commodities from its customers, it is liable to them for the capital they invested 
plus a profit.

This Shariah-compliant deposit product is accounted for using IFRS, in conformity with the accounting policies described in these financial statements. They are included in 
customers’ deposit.

(3.28) Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recorded at acquisition cost and presented as a deduction from shareholders’ equity. Any gains or losses on disposal of such shares are reflected under 
shareholders’ equity and shall not be recognized in the consolidated income statement.

(3.29) End of Service Benefits
The provision for end of service benefits is based on the rules stated under The Saudi Arabian Labor and Workmen Law and in accordance with the local statutory requirements  
of the foreign branches and subsidiaries.

The provision for the Bank is also in line with independent actuarial valuation of the Bank liability.

(3.30) Staff Compensation
The Bank’s Board of Directors and its Nomination and Compensation Committee oversee the design and implementation of the Bank’s Compensation process in accordance with 
SAMA’s Compensation Rules. 

Key elements of compensation in the Bank:

(3.30.1) Fixed Compensation
The fixed compensation element comprises salaries, allowances and cash and in-kind benefits. Salaries are set in relation to market rates to attract, retain and incentivize talented 
individuals. Salary administration is based on some key processes such as role profiling, job evaluation and pay scales and grading. The competitiveness of the pay structure is maintained 
through participation in periodic and regular market pay surveys.

(3.30.2) Variable Compensation
Variable compensation is designed to drive performance and limit excessive risk-taking. The Bank maintains two plans under this compensation element:

(a) Annual Performance Bonus
This plan aims to achieve a set of annual financial and non-financial objectives. Financial objectives relate to the economic performance of banking operations, while non-financial 
objectives relate to compliance with risk standards in addition to the achievement of certain strategic objectives relating to the employee development, teamwork, staff morale 
and other objectives.

The Bank has a periodic performance appraisal process aimed at assessing employees’ performance and contribution. Annual performance bonus payments are based on employee 
contributions as well as the performance of their businesses and the Bank’s overall results. The overall annual performance bonus pool is set as a percentage of the Bank’s net income, 
adjusted to reflect the core performance of the Bank’s employees. The Bank does not have a guaranteed bonus plan.

The cost of this plan is recognized in the income statement of the year to which it relates and is normally paid during the 1st quarter of the following year.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINuED

(3.30) Staff Compensation continued

(3.30.2) Variable Compensation continued

(b) Long Term Performance Plan
This plan aims at driving and rewarding achievements that lead to long-term corporate success, measured on the basis of return on equity (ROE) attributable to the equity holders 
of the Parent. The plan is rolled out in three-year cycles. The Bank’s actual performance is assessed at the end of each cycle as a basis for determining the actual payout amount.

Although all executives whose roles and accountabilities are likely to influence the Bank’s long term success are eligible to participate in this plan, their actual selection is made 
through rigorous vetting to ensure that other critical participation criteria are met. 

The cost of the plan is estimated by reference to a set of expected return-on-equity forecasts at the beginning of each cycle and is reviewed annually.

The three year cost estimate is apportioned and charged equally to the income statement of each year in the cycle. As the estimate is revised annually, the difference between 
the latest and the previous estimate is apportioned and charged equally over the remainder of the cycle.

(3.30.3) Compensation and Nomination Committee
The Compensation and Nomination Committee was established by the Board of Directors and is composed of four non-executive members including the Chairman of the Committee. 
The Committee’s role and responsibilities have been reviewed and updated in line with SAMA’s Compensation Rules.

The Committee is responsible for the development and implementation of the compensation process and oversight of its execution, with the objective of preventing excessive 
risk-taking and promoting corporate financial soundness. The Committee submits its recommendations, resolutions and reports to the Board of Directors for approval.

4. CASH AND BALANCES WITH SAMA

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Cash in hand 3,247,183 2,759,131

Balances with SAMA:

Statutory deposit 13,796,736 12,153,671

Current accounts 158 9,918

Money market placements (Reverse repo) 7,657,947 13,009,819

Total 24,702,024 27,932,539

In accordance with article (7) of the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), the Bank is required to maintain a statutory deposit 
with SAMA at stipulated percentages of its demand, savings, time and other deposits calculated at the end of each Gregorian month (see note 34). The statutory deposits with 
SAMA are not available to finance the Bank’s day-to-day operations and therefore are not part of cash and cash equivalents.

5. DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Current accounts 2,961,824 4,447,925

Money market placements 8,601,541 7,400,381

Total 11,563,365 11,848,306

Provision for impairment and counterparty risk (1,875) (1,875)

Due from banks and other financial institutions, net 11,561,490 11,846,431
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6. INVESTMENTS, NET

(6.1) Investments are classified as follows:

(a) Held for trading

 

Domestic International Total

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Mutual funds 508,510 587,110 – – 508,510 587,110

Held for trading 508,510 587,110 – – 508,510 587,110

(b) Held as FVIS

 

Domestic International Total

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Hedge funds and externally managed portfolio – – 3,109,644 4,448,001 3,109,644 4,448,001

Held as FVIS – – 3,109,644 4,448,001 3,109,644 4,448,001

(c) Available for sale

 

Domestic International Total

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Fixed rate securities 309,278 364,226 24,188,536 21,293,870 24,497,814 21,658,096

Floating rate securities – – 4,724,271 5,776,361 4,724,271 5,776,361

Structured credit – – 214,596 459,448 214,596 459,448

Mutual funds – – 172 172 172 172

Equities 2,158,718 2,578,846 28,992 27,869 2,187,710 2,606,715

Private equity funds – – 1,775,032 1,505,224 1,775,032 1,505,224

Available for sale, gross 2,467,996 2,943,072 30,931,599 29,062,944 33,399,595 32,006,016

Provision for impairment (25,527) – (1,107,320) (1,520,939) (1,132,847) (1,520,939)

Available for sale, net 2,442,469 2,943,072 29,824,279 27,542,005 32,266,748 30,485,077

(d) Held to maturity

 

Domestic International Total

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Fixed rate securities – – 2,154,228 2,153,841 2,154,228 2,153,841

Floating rate securities – – 13,554 36,440 13,554 36,440

Held to maturity, gross – – 2,167,782 2,190,281 2,167,782 2,190,281

Provision for impairment – – (1,494) (1,494) (1,494) (1,494)

Held to maturity, net – – 2,166,288 2,188,787 2,166,288 2,188,787
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6. INVESTMENTS, NET CONTINuED

(6.1) Investments are classified as follows: continued

(e) Other investments held at amortized cost

Domestic International Total

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

2011
SR ’000

2010
SR ’000

Fixed rate securities 51,280,245 46,773,416 25,669,499 19,214,788 76,949,744 65,988,204
Floating rate securities 4,700,024 3,791,000 797,063 617,676 5,497,087 4,408,676
Other investments held at amortized cost, gross 55,980,269 50,564,416 26,466,562 19,832,464 82,446,831 70,396,880
Provision for impairment – – (8,853) (40,606) (8,853) (40,606)
Other investments held at amortized cost, net 55,980,269 50,564,416 26,457,709 19,791,858 82,437,978 70,356,274
Investments, net 58,931,248 54,094,598 61,557,920 53,970,651 120,489,168 108,065,249

(6.2) The analysis of the composition of investments is as follows:

 

2011 2010

Quoted
SR ‘000

Unquoted
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Quoted
SR ‘000

Unquoted
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Fixed rate securities 26,652,042 76,949,744 103,601,786 23,503,241 66,296,899 89,800,140
Floating rate securities 4,737,825 5,497,087 10,234,912 5,494,707 4,726,770 10,221,477
Structured credit – 214,596 214,596 – 459,448 459,448
Mutual funds 508,510 172 508,682 587,110 172 587,282
Hedge funds and externally managed portfolio – 3,109,645 3,109,645 – 4,448,001 4,448,001
Equities 2,111,816 75,894 2,187,710 2,531,944 74,771 2,606,715
Private equity funds – 1,775,031 1,775,031 – 1,505,224 1,505,224
Investments, gross 34,010,193 87,622,169 121,632,362 32,117,002 77,511,285 109,628,287
Provision for impairment (217,238) (925,956) (1,143,194) (245,376) (1,317,662) (1,563,038)
Investments, net 33,792,955 86,696,213 120,489,168 31,871,626 76,193,623 108,065,249

The above unquoted fixed rate securities and floating rate securities mainly comprise Saudi Government Securities, Foreign Government and Foreign Quasi Government Bonds.

Fixed and floating rate securities include sovereign, corporate and bank bonds, and asset-backed securities including Collateralized Debt Obligations (CDOs) and Collateralized 
Loans Obligations (CLOs).

Structured credit includes junior notes of Collateralized Debt Obligations and Collateralized Loans Obligations.

Quoted instruments are those which are quoted in an active market. unquoted instruments also include certain securities that although are quoted but for which there is no 
active market, and their carrying value amounts to SR 24,557 million (2010: SR 17,486 million).

(6.3) The analysies of unrealized revaluation gains/losses and fair values of held to maturity investments and other investments held at amortized cost 
are as follows: 

(a) Held to maturity

 

2011 2010

Carrying
value

SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

gain
SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

loss
SR‘000

Fair
value

SR‘000

Carrying
value

SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

gain
SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

loss
SR‘000

Fair
value

SR‘000

Fixed rate securities 2,154,228 123,555 – 2,277,783 2,153,841 115,221 – 2,269,062
Floating rate securities 13,554 – (268) 13,286 36,440 – (4,920) 31,520
Held to maturity, gross 2,167,782 123,555 (268) 2,291,069 2,190,281 115,221 (4,920) 2,300,582
Provision for impairment (1,494) – – (1,494) (1,494) – – (1,494)
Total 2,166,288 123,555 (268) 2,289,575 2,188,787 115,221 (4,920) 2,299,088
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(b) Other investments held at amortized cost

 

2011 2010

Carrying
value

SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

gain
SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

loss
SR‘000

Fair
value

SR‘000

Carrying
value

SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

gain
SR‘000

Gross
unrealized

loss
SR‘000

Fair
value

SR‘000

Fixed rate securities 76,949,744 2,236,856 (114,334) 79,072,266 65,988,204 1,884,015 (212,272) 67,659,947

Floating rate securities 5,497,087 120,914 (309) 5,617,692 4,408,676 134,154 (50,566) 4,492,264

Other investments held at amortized cost, gross 82,446,831 2,357,770 (114,643) 84,689,958 70,396,880 2,018,169 (262,838) 72,152,211

Provision for impairment (8,853) – – (8,853) (40,606) – – (40,606)

Total 82,437,978 2,357,770 (114,643) 84,681,105 70,356,274 2,018,169 (262,838) 72,111,605

Equities reported under available for sale investments include unquoted shares of SR 72.4 million (2010: SR 71.2 million), net of provision for impairment, that are carried at cost 
as their fair values cannot be reliably measured.

(6.4) Movement in the provision for impairment on investments
The accumulated credit-related provision for investments is as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Balance at beginning of the year 1,563,038 1,912,154

Provided during the year 161,985 360,513

(Recoveries) of amounts previously provided (139,985) (307,630)

(Written-off) against investments sold (441,844) (401,999)

Balance at the end of the year 1,143,194 1,563,038

(6.5) Net charge for impairment provision on investments for the year in the consolidated statement of income:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Addition during the year 161,985 360,513

(Recoveries) of amounts previously provided (139,985) (307,630)

Net charge for the year (impairment charge on investments, net) 22,000 52,883

7. LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET

(7.1) Loans and advances

2011
Credit cards

SR ’000
Consumer

SR ’000
Corporate

SR ’000
Others
SR ’000

Total
SR ’000

Performing loans and advances 1,779,329 38,423,592 92,902,974 3,928,963 137,034,858

Non-performing loans and advances 79,745 203,127 3,782,980 205,417 4,271,269

Total loans and advances 1,859,074 38,626,719 96,685,954 4,134,380 141,306,127

Provision for credit losses (116,385) (745,305) (4,927,424) (227,517) (6,016,631)

Loans & advances, net 1,742,689 37,881,414 91,758,530 3,906,863 135,289,496
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7. LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET CONTINuED

(7.1) Loans and advances continued

2010
Credit cards

SR ’000
Consumer

SR ’000
Corporate

SR ’000
Others

SR ’000
Total

SR ’000

Performing loans and advances 1,954,481 32,874,953 89,401,995 2,240,058 126,471,487

Non-performing loans and advances 40,995 436,959 4,347,543 337,113 5,162,610

Total loans and advances 1,995,476 33,311,912 93,749,538 2,577,171 131,634,097

Provision for credit losses (129,792) (845,873) (4,836,465) (224,876) (6,037,006)

Loans & advances, net 1,865,684 32,466,039 88,913,073 2,352,295 125,597,091

Others include private banking customers and bank loans.

Loans and advances, net, include financing products in compliance with Shariah rules mainly Murabaha, Tayseer and Ijara which are stated at cost less provisions for credit losses, 
of SR 80,967 million (2010: SR 70,035 million).

Provision for credit losses related to financing products in compliance with Shariah rules is SR 1,771 million (2010: SR 1,846 million).

(7.2) Movements in the provision for credit losses
The accumulated provision for credit losses is as follows:

2011
Credit cards

SR ’000
Consumer

SR ’000
Corporate

SR ’000
Others
SR ’000

Total
SR ’000

Balance at beginning of the year 129,792 845,873 4,836,465 224,876 6,037,006

Provided during the year 90,365 567,375 761,321 36,200 1,455,261

Bad debts (written off) (103,188) (663,872) (561,407) (33,559) (1,362,026)

(Recoveries) of amounts previously provided (584) (4,071) (108,955) – (113,610)

Balance at the end of the year 116,385 745,305 4,927,424 227,517 6,016,631

2010
Credit cards

SR ’000
Consumer

SR ’000
Corporate

SR ’000
Others

SR ’000
Total

SR ’000

Balance at beginning of the year 96,224 575,023 3,653,233 298,856 4,623,336

Provided (reversed) during the year 127,092 860,092 1,425,241 (4,436) 2,407,989

Bad debts (written off) (90,562) (583,571) (124,907) (49,544) (848,584)

(Recoveries) of amounts previously provided (2,962) (5,671) (117,102) (20,000) (145,735)

Balance at the end of the year 129,792 845,873 4,836,465 224,876 6,037,006

(7.3) Net impairment charge for credit losses for the year in the consolidated statement of income:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Addition during the year 1,455,261 2,407,989

(Recoveries) of amounts previously provided (113,610) (145,735)

1,341,651 2,262,254

Provision (recoveries) against indirect facilities (included in other liabilities) (note 16) 11,479 (6,373)

(Recoveries) of debts previously written-off (346,756) (445,155)

Direct write-off 26,943 20,834

Net charge for the year (impairment charge for credit losses, net) 1,033,317 1,831,560
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(7.4) Economic sector risk concentrations for the loans and advances and provisions for credit losses are as follows:

2011
Performing

SR’ 000

Non-
performing

SR’ 000

Specific
provision

SR’ 000

Non-
performing, net

SR’ 000

Loans and
advances, net

SR’ 000

Government and quasi Government 3,639,760 – – – 3,639,760
Banks and other financial institutions 2,684,239 37,585 (37,543) 42 2,684,281
Agriculture and fishing 619,418 8,597 (6,956) 1,641 621,059
Manufacturing 20,352,974 272,636 (213,794) 58,842 20,411,816
Electricity, water, gas and health services 6,487,151 35,708 (31,027) 4,681 6,491,832
Building and construction 8,504,269 1,078,641 (1,042,821) 35,820 8,540,089
Commerce 26,669,474 2,218,365 (2,136,169) 82,196 26,751,670
Transportation and communication 9,221,332 59,224 (55,563) 3,661 9,224,993
Services 15,843,284 80,566 (74,988) 5,578 15,848,862
Consumer loans and credit cards 40,202,921 282,872 (197,829) 85,043 40,287,964
Others 2,810,036 197,075 (175,047) 22,028 2,832,064

137,034,858 4,271,269 (3,971,737) 299,532 137,334,390
Portfolio (collective) provision (2,044,894)
Loans and advances, net 135,289,496

2010
Performing

SR’ 000

Non-
performing

SR’ 000

Specific
provision

SR’ 000

Non-
performing, net

SR’ 000

Loans and
advances, net

SR’ 000

Government and quasi Government 9,003,346 – – – 9,003,346
Banks and other financial institutions 329,896 37,589 (37,541) 48 329,944
Agriculture and fishing 587,208 12,563 (8,406) 4,157 591,365
Manufacturing 16,366,779 317,661 (219,625) 98,036 16,464,815
Electricity, water, gas and health services 4,294,633 40,400 (35,113) 5,287 4,299,920
Building and construction 7,694,655 1,158,548 (1,115,408) 43,140 7,737,795
Commerce 25,605,584 2,626,161 (2,354,937) 271,224 25,876,808
Transportation and communication 9,503,782 44,846 (39,213) 5,633 9,509,415
Services 15,031,626 141,758 (75,475) 66,283 15,097,909
Consumer loans and credit cards 34,423,030 469,957 (404,889) 65,068 34,488,098
Others 3,630,948 313,127 (136,871) 176,256 3,807,204

126,471,487 5,162,610 (4,427,478) 735,132 127,206,619
Portfolio (collective) provision (1,609,528)
Loans and advances, net 125,597,091

(7.5) Loans and advances include finance lease receivables (including Ijara in compliance with Shariah rules) which are analysed as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Gross receivables from finance leases:
Less than 1 year 1,307,312 422,280
1 to 5 years 3,673,460 4,616,603
Over 5 years 2,595,016 –

7,575,788 5,038,883
unearned finance income on finance leases (1,676,482) (1,086,598)
Net receivables from finance leases 5,899,306 3,952,285

Provision for uncollectable finance lease receivables included in the provision for credit losses is SR 294 million (2010: SR 267 million).
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8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES, NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Cost:
At beginning of the year 1,463,682 1,463,682
Additions 24,000 –
Partial redemption (232) –
At 31 December 1,487,450 1,463,682
Provision for impairment and share of losses:
At beginning of the year (636,217) (618,943)
Additions, net (note 27) (12,658) (17,274)
At 31 December (648,875) (636,217)
Investment in associates, net 838,575 827,465

Investment in associates represents a 60% (2010: 60%) ownership interest in the Commercial Real Estate Markets Company (see note 3.2), 30% (2010: 30%) ownership interest  
in each of Al Behar Real Estate Investment Company and Al-Ahali Takaful Company, which are all registered in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

9. OTHER REAL ESTATE, NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Cost:
At beginning of the year 368,394 375,539
Additions 33,151 6,345
Disposals (44,424) (13,490)
At 31 December 357,121 368,394
Provision and foreign currency translation:
 Foreign currency translation reserve (12,718) –
 Provision for unrealized revaluation losses (95,234) (88,729)
At 31 December (107,952) (88,729)
Total 249,169 279,665

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

2011 2010
Land, buildings

and leasehold
improvements

SR ‘000

Furniture,
equipment

and vehicles
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Land, buildings
and leasehold
improvements

SR ‘000

Furniture,
equipment

and vehicles
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Cost:
At beginning of the year 2,586,149 1,785,138 4,371,287 2,540,616 1,703,234 4,243,850
Additions 288,983 358,208 647,191 69,068 232,295 301,363
Disposals and retirement (19,889) (40,373) (60,262) (23,535) (150,391) (173,926)
At 31 December 2,855,243 2,102,973 4,958,216 2,586,149 1,785,138 4,371,287

Accumulated depreciation and foreign  
currency translation:

At beginning of the year 1,112,272 1,162,010 2,274,282 1,012,542 1,078,173 2,090,715
Foreign currency translation reserve 25,222 28,415 53,637 – – –
Charge for the year 99,641 252,736 352,377 108,820 226,336 335,156
Disposals and retirement (11,765) (27,668) (39,433) (9,090) (142,499) (151,589)
At 31 December 1,225,370 1,415,493 2,640,863 1,112,272 1,162,010 2,274,282
Net book value:
As at 31 December 1,629,873 687,480 2,317,353 1,473,877 623,128 2,097,005
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11. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(11.1) Net book value

 

2011 2010

Goodwill 
SR ‘000

Intangibles
SR ‘000

Goodwill 
SR ‘000

Intangibles
SR ‘000

Cost:

At beginning of the year 2,213,874 1,566,294 2,213,874 1,566,294

At 31 December 2,213,874 1,566,294 2,213,874 1,566,294

Amortisation, impairment and foreign currency translation:

At beginning of the year 1,479,130 643,617 1,230,418 359,329

Amortisation charge for the year – 197,880 – 235,557

Impairment loss – – 224,485 52,668

Foreign currency translation reserve 130,109 98,489 24,227 (3,937)

At 31 December 1,609,239 939,986 1,479,130 643,617

Net book value:

At 31 December 604,635 626,308 734,744 922,677

(11.2) Impairment testing of goodwill
In accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS 36), the Group has performed an impairment test as at 30 November 2011 in respect of the 
goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition of Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, . The goodwill arising on this acquisition has been allocated to Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, .

No goodwill impairment loss has been recognized for Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, . in 2011 and 2010.

The impairment loss of goodwill and intangible assets for The Capital Partnership Group in 2010 amounted to SR 277 million.

(11.2.1) Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, .
In accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, the Group’s management has carried out the impairment test in respect of the goodwill arising 
as a result of acquiring Türkiye Finans Katılım Bankası A.S, . (TFK). The recoverable amount of TFK has been determined based on higher of value in use or fair value less cost to sell. 
The two key assumptions used in the goodwill impairment testing in respect of TFK are the discount rate and the estimated future cash flow.

The average discount rate of 14% (2010: 14%) was used to discount the future cash flow.

A long term growth rate of 4% (2010: 4%) is used in the terminal value calculation which is in line with expected long term inflation rates in Turkey. 

Based on the above, the recoverable amount based on value in use as at 30 November 2011 was higher than the carrying value; hence no impairment loss on goodwill is required 
to be recognised in 2011 in respect of TFK. 

12. OTHER ASSETS

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Accrued special commission income receivable:

 - banks and other financial institutions 7,523 12,244 

 - investments 780,710 842,121 

 - loans and advances 503,786 371,722 

 - derivatives 71,820 53,710 

Total accrued special commission income receivable 1,363,839 1,279,797 

Prepayments and accounts receivable 385,554 455,870 

Margin deposits against derivatives and repos 641,068 655,871 

Positive fair value of derivatives, net (note 13) 465,956 402,813 

Others 1,663,526 1,274,775 

Total 4,519,943 4,069,126 
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13. DERIVATIVES

(13.1) Derivative products
In the ordinary course of business, the Group utilizes the following derivative financial instruments for both trading and hedging purposes:

(a) Swaps
Swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. For special commission rate swaps, counterparties generally exchange fixed and floating rate special 
commission payments in a single currency without exchanging principal. For currency swaps, fixed special commission payments and principal are exchanged in different currencies. 
For cross-currency special commission rate swaps, principal and fixed and floating special commission payments are exchanged in different currencies.

(b) Forwards and Futures
Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial instrument at a specified price and date in the future.  
Forwards are customized contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market. Foreign currency and special commission rate futures are transacted in standardized amounts  
on regulated exchanges. Changes in futures contract values are settled daily. 

(c) Forward rate agreements
Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated special commission rate contracts that call for a cash settlement for the difference between a contracted special commission 
rate and the market rate on a specified future date, based on a notional principal for an agreed period of time.

(d) Options
Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the obligation, to either buy or sell at a fixed future date or  
at any time during a specified period, a specified amount of a currency, commodity or financial instrument at a pre-determined price.

(e) Swaptions
Swaptions are options on swaps and entail an option on the fixed rate component of a swap. An option on a swap provides the purchaser or holder of the option the right, but 
not the obligation to enter into a swap where it pays fixed rates against receipt of a floating rate index as at a future date.

(f) Structured Derivative products
Structured derivative products provide financial solutions to the customers of the Bank to manage their risks in respect of foreign exchange, special commission rate and commodity 
exposures and enhance yields by allowing deployment of excess liquidity within specific risk and return profiles. All structured derivative transactions are entered by the Bank on 
back-to-back basis with various counterparties and the Bank does not keep any open position.

(13.2) Derivatives held for trading purposes
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve offering products to customers and banks in order, inter alia, to 
enable them to transfer, modify or reduce current and future risks. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting from favorable movements 
in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves profiting from price differentials between markets or products.

(13.3) Derivatives held for hedging purposes
The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk (see note 32 - credit risk, note 33 - market risk and note 34 - liquidity risk). Part of 
the risk management process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange and special commission rates to reduce its exposure to currency and special 
commission rate risks to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors within the guidelines issued by SAMA. 

The Board of Directors has established levels of currency risk by setting limits on counterparty and currency position exposures. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and 
hedging strategies are used to ensure that positions are maintained within the established limits. The Board of Directors has established the level of special commission rate risk 
by setting limits on special commission rate gaps for stipulated periods. Asset and liability special commission rate gaps are reviewed on a periodic basis and hedging strategies 
are used to reduce special commission rate gaps to within the established limits.

As part of its asset and liability management, the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to adjust its own exposure to currency and special commission rate risks. 
This is generally achieved by hedging specific transactions as well as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures. Strategic hedging does not qualify 
for special hedge accounting and the related derivatives are accounted for as held for trading, such as special commission rate swaps, special commission rate options and 
futures, forward foreign exchange contracts and currency options.

The Group uses special commission rate swaps to hedge against the special commission rate risk arising from specifically identified fixed special commission rate exposures.  
The Group also uses special commission rate swaps to hedge against the cash flow risk arising on certain floating rate exposures. In all such cases, the hedging relationship and 
objective, including details of the hedged items and hedging instrument, are formally documented and the transactions are accounted for as fair value or cash flow hedges.
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The tables below show the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments, together with the notional amounts analyzed by the term to maturity and monthly 
average. The notional amounts, which provide an indication of the volumes of the transactions outstanding at the year end, do not necessarily reflect the amounts of future cash 
flows involved. These notional amounts, therefore, are neither indicative of the Group’s exposure to credit risk, which is generally limited to the positive fair value of the 
derivatives, nor to market risk.

2011

Positive
 fair value

SR ‘000

Negative
fair value

SR ‘000

Notional amounts by term to maturity

Monthly
 average

SR ‘000

Notional
amount
SR ‘000

Within 3
months
SR ‘000

3-12
months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over 5
years

SR ‘000

Held for trading:

 Special commission rate swaps 182,484 (177,291) 5,424,126 – 308,075 4,374,530 741,521 8,167,679

Special commission rate  
options and futures 995 (995) 332,432 – 332,432 – – 1,049,144

 Forward foreign exchange contracts 135,939 (81,879) 52,094,215 23,523,507 28,476,708 94,000 – 58,687,788

 Options 4,169 (5,951) 117,599 57,105 4,702 55,792 – 8,876,844

 Structured derivatives 69,422 (69,657) 20,530,078 1,316,663 13,951,379 5,262,036 – 39,750,934

Held as fair value hedges:

 Special commission rate swaps – (430,189) 1,833,069 – – 93,750 1,739,319 1,856,860

Held as cash flow hedges:

 Special commission rate swaps 73,164 (16,279) 4,830,250 – 240,000 4,590,250 – 2,850,521

Total 466,173 (782,241) 85,161,769 24,897,275 43,313,296 14,470,358 2,480,840

Provision for counterparty risk (217) –

Fair value, net (note 12 & 16) 465,956 (782,241)

2010

Positive
 fair value

SR ‘000

Negative
fair value

SR ‘000

Notional amounts by term to maturity

Monthly
 average
SR ‘000

Notional
amount
SR ‘000

Within 3
months
SR ‘000

3-12
months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over 5
years

SR ‘000

Held for trading:

 Special commission rate swaps 210,876 (202,318) 6,100,674 4,000 581,740 5,145,052 369,882 7,645,823

Special commission rate  
options and futures 34,705 (26,859) 2,041,926 135,000 1,400,484 573,942 – 2,527,564

 Forward foreign exchange contracts 91,421 (89,497) 54,148,814 32,680,525 20,636,986 831,303 – 44,115,131

 Options 20,958 (20,958) 4,679,046 4,634,046 45,000 – – 3,995,614

 Structured derivatives 12,902 (22,340) 4,654,160 – – 1,500,000 3,154,160 6,409,392

Held as fair value hedges:

 Special commission rate swaps – (190,347) 1,814,332 – – – 1,814,332 1,750,988

Held as cash flow hedges:

 Special commission rate swaps 32,168 (2,748) 769,000 100,000 160,000 509,000 – 1,070,667

Total 403,030 (555,067) 74,207,952 37,553,571 22,824,210 8,559,297 5,338,374

Provision for counterparty risk (217) –

Fair value, net (note 12 & 16) 402,813 (555,067)
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13. DERIVATIVES CONTINuED

(13.3) Derivatives held for hedging purposes continued 
The table below shows a summary of hedged items and portfolios, the nature of the risk being hedged, the hedging instrument and its fair value. 

2011
Fair value

SR‘000
Cost

SR‘000 Risk Hedging instrument

Positive
 fair value

SR‘000

Negative
 fair value

SR‘000

Description of hedged items

Fixed rate instruments 3,563,176 3,102,150 Fair value Special commission rate swap – (430,189)

Floating rate instruments 3,565,262 3,559,000 Cash flow Special commission rate swap 73,164 (16,279)

2010
Fair value

SR‘000
Cost

SR‘000 Risk Hedging instrument

Positive
 fair value

SR‘000

Negative
 fair value

SR‘000

Description of hedged items

Fixed rate instruments 2,379,244 2,187,768 Fair value  Special commission rate swap – (190,347)

Floating rate instruments 767,990 769,100 Cash flow  Special commission rate swap 32,168 (2,748)

The losses on the hedging instruments for fair value hedge are SR 240 million (2010: SR 0.3 million). The gains on the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk are SR 240 million 
(2010: SR 0.3 million). Thus, the net fair value is Nil (2010: Nil).

Approximately 27% (2010: 31%) of the positive fair value of the Group’s derivatives are entered into with financial institutions and less than 73% (2010: 69%) of the positive fair value 
contracts are with non-financial institutions at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Derivative activities are mainly carried out under the Group’s Treasury segment.

Cash flows hedges:
The Bank is exposed to variability in future special commission cash flows on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear special commission at a variable rate. The Bank generally 
uses special commission rate swaps as hedging instruments to hedge against these special commission rate risks.

Reconciliation of movements in the other reserve of cash flows hedges:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Balance at beginning of the year 29,419 85,210

Gains from changes in fair value recognised directly in equity, net (effective portion) 80,561 22,122

(Gains) removed from equity and transferred to consolidated statement of income (53,095) (77,913)

Balance at end of the year 56,885 29,419

The discontinuation of hedge accounting due to disposal of both the hedging instruments and the hedged items, resulted in reclassification of the associated cumulative gains  
of SR 0.5 million (2010: SR 34 million) from equity to consolidated statement of income, included in the gains above.

For cash flows hedges, the amount shown as balance of other reserves under shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2011 is mainly expected to affect the consolidated 
statement of income in the forthcoming one to five years.

62 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2011



14. DUE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Current accounts 2,210,445 1,769,710

Money market deposits 5,573,067 5,849,868

Money market deposits (Repos) 12,156,154 6,712,120

Total 19,939,666 14,331,698

Collateral given
The Bank conducts Repo transactions under the terms that are usually based on the applicable GMRA (Global Master Repurchase Agreement) collateral guidelines. The counterparty 
is allowed to sell or repledge those securities in the absence of default by the Bank.

The carrying amount and fair value of securities lent and of securities sold under agreement to repurchase (repo) are as follows:

2011 2010

Carrying amount
SR ‘000

Fair value
SR ‘000

Carrying amount
SR ‘000

Fair value
SR ‘000

Available for sale 11,829,776 11,829,776 5,710,563 5,710,563

Held to maturity – – 843,870 848,657

Investments held at amortized cost 299,351 315,818 – –

Total 12,129,127 12,145,594 6,554,433 6,559,220

The Bank has placed a margin deposit of SR 34 million (2010: SR 174 million) as an additional security for these repo transactions.

15. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Current accounts 168,565,006 142,116,553

Savings 148,876 153,474

Time 60,426,636 75,708,149

Others 10,317,040 11,182,005

Total 239,457,558 229,160,181

Other customers’ deposits include SR 3,046 million (2010: SR 2,852 million) of margins held for irrevocable commitments and contingencies. 

Foreign currency deposits included in customers’ deposits:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Current accounts 11,665,785 9,685,373

Savings 1,786 –

Time 22,937,166 35,634,812

Others 878,976 2,672,858

Total 35,483,713 47,993,043
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16. OTHER LIABILITIES

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Accrued special commission expense payable:

 - banks and other financial institutions 21,284 7,627

 - customers’ deposits 227,017 201,974

 - derivatives 68,515 77,018

Total accrued special commission expense payable 316,816 286,619

Negative fair value of derivatives (note 13) 782,241 555,067

Zakat (NCB parent and NCBC) 453,839 161,220

Staff-related payables 1,402,904 1,409,173

Accrued expenses and accounts payable 1,135,935 960,797

Provisions for indirect facilities (note 7.3) 222,195 218,413

Others 1,901,753 2,432,131

Total 6,215,683 6,023,420

17. SHARE CAPITAL
The authorized, issued and fully paid share capital of the Bank excluding treasury shares (see note 42) consists of 1,495,975,148 shares of SR 10 each (2010: 1,495,975,148 shares 
of SR 10 each), wholly owned by Saudi shareholders.

18. STATUTORY RESERVE
In accordance with Saudi Arabian Banking Control Law, a minimum of 25% of the annual net income, inclusive of the overseas branches, is required to be transferred to a statutory 
reserve until this reserve equals the paid up capital of the Bank.

Pursuant to Lebanese Money and Credit Law, the Lebanon branch is required to transfer 10% of its annual net income to the statutory reserve. The Turkish Bank transferred  
5% of its previous year annual net income to statutory reserve.

The statutory reserves are not currently available for distribution.

19. OTHER RESERVES (cumulative changes in fair values)
Other reserves represent the net unrealized revaluation gains (losses) of cash flow hedges (effective portion) and available for sale investments. The movement of other reserves 
during the year is included under consolidated statement of other comprehensive income and the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. These reserves are 
not available for distribution.

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

(20.1) Legal proceeding
The Bank is one of many Saudi and non-Saudi defendants in certain lawsuits initiated in the united States during 2004. These lawsuits were consolidated in a Federal Court in New 
York for preliminary pre-trial purposes. During 2004, the Bank filed motions to dismiss the lead lawsuits and asserted a number of threshold jurisdictional and legal defenses.  
In July 2008, the Bank made a renewed motion to dismiss all of these lawsuits based on a lack of united States jurisdiction over the Bank. On 16 June 2010, the Presiding Judge 
granted the Bank’s renewed motion to dismiss all of plaintiffs’ claims against the Bank, finding that the evidence did not support the exercise of united States jurisdiction over  
the Bank, either generally, or specifically in connection with the plaintiffs’ claims.

On 14 July 2011, the Clerk of the Court issued a formal judgment of dismissal of the Bank and numerous other defendants. Through a series of notices filed on or before 15 August 2011, 
the plaintiffs in all lawsuits against the Bank have commenced appeals of the judgment of dismissal of the Bank and numerous other defendants and has filed an opening brief  
on 20 January 2012.

The Bank’s u.S. legal counsel has advised the Bank’s management that they believe the judgment dismissing the claims against the Bank has a strong basis in both law and fact, 
and that the plaintiffs will face significant difficulties in challenging that judgment on appeal.
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(20.2) Capital and other non-credit related commitments
The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2011 in respect of building and equipment purchases are not material to the financial position of the Group.

(20.3) Credit-related commitments and contingencies
Credit-related commitments and contingencies mainly comprise letters of credit, guarantees, acceptances and commitments to extend credit (irrevocable). The primary purpose 
of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to customers as required. 

Guarantees including standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that customers cannot meet their obligations 
to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans and advances. 

Cash requirements under guarantees are normally considerably less than the amount of the related commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party  
to draw funds under the agreement.

Documentary letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated 
amount under specific terms and conditions, are generally collateralized by the underlying shipment of goods to which they relate and therefore have significantly less risk. 

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group expects most acceptances to be presented before being reimbursed 
by the customers.

Commitments to extend credit represent the unused portion of authorizations to extend credit, principally in the form of loans and advances, guarantees and letters of credit. 
With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the  
likely amount of loss, which cannot readily be quantified, is expected to be considerably less than the total unused commitment as most commitments to extend credit are 
contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The total outstanding commitments to extend credit do not necessarily represent future cash requirements,  
as many of the commitments could expire or terminate without being funded.

(a) The contractual maturity structure of the Group’s credit-related commitments and contingencies is as follows:

2011

Within 3
 months
SR ‘000

3-12
months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over 5
years

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Guarantees 12,595,316 16,772,096 17,828,629 665,252 47,861,293

Letter of credit 12,833,440 5,045,415 543,891 531,884 18,954,630

Acceptances 2,219,250 957,547 76,508 8,315 3,261,620

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit – 2,557,714 5,717,098 825,000 9,099,812

Total 27,648,006 25,332,772 24,166,126 2,030,451 79,177,355

2010

Within 3
 months
SR ‘000

3-12
months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over 5
years

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Guarantees 13,400,538 9,688,503 18,856,759 257,745 42,203,545

Letter of credit 12,673,575 3,901,237 1,353,271 28,496 17,956,579

Acceptances 1,673,721 714,096 117,102 – 2,504,919

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit – 2,392,793 6,614,995 – 9,007,788

Total 27,747,834 16,696,629 26,942,127 286,241 71,672,831

Th
e 

N
at

io
na

l C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

k 
 |

  A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

11

65



20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES CONTINuED

(20.3) Credit-related commitments and contingencies continued

(b) The analysis of commitments and contingencies by counterparty is as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Government and quasi Government 3,282,209 4,753,153

Corporate and establishments 54,623,665 46,661,191

Banks and other financial institutions 20,474,051 19,495,432

Others 797,430 763,055

Total 79,177,355 71,672,831

(20.4) Operating lease commitments
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases where the Group is the lessee are as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Less than 1 year 189,846 148,331

1 to 5 years 571,969 432,410

Over 5 years 547,684 401,093

Total 1,309,499 981,834

21. NET SPECIAL COMMISSION INCOME

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Special commission income:

Investments - available for sale 897,565 900,892

Investments - held to maturity 63,197 63,919

Other investments held at amortized cost 1,917,820 1,737,458

Sub total - investments 2,878,582 2,702,269

Due from banks and other financial institutions 65,108 107,237

Loans and advances 7,241,413 6,901,748

Total 10,185,103 9,711,254

Special commission expense:

Due to banks and other financial institutions 118,613 59,375

Customers’ deposits 1,485,064 1,487,223

Debt securities issued – 14,854

Total 1,603,677 1,561,452

Net special commission income 8,581,426 8,149,802
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22. FEE INCOME FROM BANKING SERVICES, NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Fee income:

Shares brokerage 310,034 202,520

Investment management services 222,093 302,571

Finance and lending 1,107,553 1,021,646

Others 1,454,410 1,370,409

Total 3,094,090 2,897,146

Fee expenses:

Shares brokerage 50,294 31,503

Investment management services 11,966 13,134

Others 400,498 364,651

Total 462,758 409,288

Fees from banking services, net 2,631,332 2,487,858

Other fee income includes fees from trade finance, credit cards and other miscellaneous banking activities.

23. (LOSS)/INCOME FROM FVIS INVESTMENTS, NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Revaluation (loss)/gains on investments held as FVIS (86,704) 180,895

Special commission income on FVIS investments – 220

Total (loss) income (86,704) 181,115

24. TRADING INCOME, NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Foreign exchange 95,769 102,233

Mutual funds 11,767 8,710

Derivatives 39,933 40,053

Bonds – 158

Total 147,469 151,154

25. DIVIDEND INCOME

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Available for sale investments 65,626 65,781
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26. GAINS ON NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS, NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Gains on available for sale investments, net 246,231 275,141

Gains on other investments held at amortised cost, net 78,709 7,619

Total 324,940 282,760

27. OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Income (Loss) from other real estate

Rental income, net 933 28

Gain on disposal, net 471 2,275

(Provision for) unrealized revaluation loss (6,365) (5,645)

Net (loss) from other real estate (4,961) (3,342)

Overseas income tax of a foreign subsidiary and branches (139,443) (118,347)

Bank’s share in associates’ (losses) (note 8) (12,658) (17,274)

Gain on disposal of property and equipment 13,749 9,606

Net other (expenses) (30,070) (33,493)

Total (173,383) (162,850)

28. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year  
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 2011 and 2010 (see note 17).

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is not applicable to the Group.

29. NET DIVIDEND AND ZAKAT
During the year, the Board of Directors recommended a dividend, net of zakat, for the year as follows:

Amount Rate per share

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

2011
SR

2010
SR

Interim dividend paid 1,196,780 1,196,780 0.80 0.80

Proposed final dividend 1,495,975 1,495,975 1.00 1.00

Total net dividend 2,692,755 2,692,755 1.80 1.80

Zakat attributable to shareholders of the parent 434,134 151,529

Total gross dividend 3,126,889 2,844,284

The zakat assessments had been finalized with the Department of Zakat and Income Tax (DZIT) for all the years up to 2007. The Bank has submitted zakat returns for the years 
2008 to 2010 and obtained limited zakat certificates for these years which are under the process of final assessment by DZIT.

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Cash and balances with SAMA excluding statutory deposits (note 4) 10,905,288 15,778,868

Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing within ninety days (note 5) 9,810,240 11,846,431

Total 20,715,528 27,625,299
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31. OPERATING SEGMENTS
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses 
that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group management.

The Group has five reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic divisions. The strategic divisions offer different products and services, and are managed 
separately based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Consumer –  Provides banking services, including lending and current accounts in addition to products in compliance with Shariah rules which are supervised  
by the independent Shariah Board, to individuals, small sized businesses and private banking customers.

Corporate –  Provides banking services including all conventional credit-related products and financing products in compliance with Shariah rules to medium  
and large establishments and companies.

Treasury  –  Provides a full range of treasury products and services, including money market and foreign exchange, to the Bank’s clients, in addition to carrying  
out investment and trading activities (local and international) and managing liquidity risk, market risk and credit risk (related to investments). 

Capital Market –  Provides wealth management, assets management, investment banking and shares brokerage services (local, regional and international).

International – Comprises banking services provided outside Saudi Arabia including overseas subsidiaries and international banking services.

Transactions between the operating segments are recorded as per the Bank and its subsidiaries’ transfer pricing system.

The supports and Head Office expenses are allocated to segments using activity-based costing.

(31.1) The Group’s total assets and liabilities at year end, its operating income and expenses (total and main items) and net income for the year,  
by business segments, are as follows:

2011
Consumer

SR ‘000
Corporate

SR ‘000
Treasury

SR ‘000
Capital Market

SR ‘000
International

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Total assets 51,965,703 77,884,222 138,977,993 1,246,081 31,124,162 301,198,161

Total liabilities 150,042,367 71,637,882 18,022,999 261,540 25,648,119 265,612,907

Fee income from banking services, net 961,318 557,841 – 498,701 613,472 2,631,332

Operating income 4,757,149 2,010,452 3,001,865 521,236 1,847,692 12,138,394

Operating expenses 2,754,451 976,287 332,078 406,773 1,335,447 5,805,036

 of which:

 – Depreciation of property and equipment 190,771 41,298 32,170 18,874 69,264 352,377

 – Impairment charge for credit losses, net 412,237 399,998 – – 221,082 1,033,317

 – Impairment charge on investments, net – – 2,534 19,466 – 22,000

 – Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets – – – – – –

Net income (parent and non–controlling interests) 2,022,090 981,723 2,606,760 131,860 363,686 6,106,119

2010
Consumer

SR ‘000
Corporate

SR ‘000
Treasury
SR ‘000

Capital Market
SR ‘000

International
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Total assets 45,329,287 76,063,835 131,821,120 1,339,773 27,817,977 282,371,992 

Total liabilities 139,543,192 71,245,236 14,845,246 283,002 23,598,623 249,515,299 

Fee income from banking services, net 892,214 511,695 9,509 491,507 582,933 2,487,858 

Operating income 5,215,359 2,171,065 2,024,614 544,451 1,711,767 11,667,256 

Operating expenses 2,925,707 1,437,054 257,177 804,027 1,209,534 6,633,499 

 of which:

 – Depreciation of property and equipment 181,979 40,155 26,078 19,697 67,247 335,156 

 – Impairment charge for credit losses, net 777,015 964,293  –  – 90,252 1,831,560 

 – Impairment charge on investments, net  – (36,762) 9,312 80,333  – 52,883 

 – Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets  –  –  – 277,153  – 277,153 

Net income (parent and non–controlling interests) 2,262,628 708,816 1,725,915 (278,846) 384,891 4,803,404 
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31. OPERATING SEGMENTS CONTINuED

(31.2) The Group’s credit exposure, by business segments, is as follows:

2011
Consumer

SR ‘000
Corporate

SR ‘000
Treasury

SR ‘000
Capital Market

SR ‘000
International

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Statement of financial position assets 38,584,574 74,035,485 122,937,828 71,405 27,238,883 262,868,175

Commitments and contingencies (credit equivalent) 1,222,392 23,262,946 – – 16,642,068 41,127,406

Derivatives (credit equivalent) – – 831,054 1,232 – 832,286

2010
Consumer

SR ‘000
Corporate

SR ‘000
Treasury
SR ‘000

Capital Market
SR ‘000

International
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Statement of financial position assets 33,955,135 72,843,752 108,267,018 93,372 23,948,481 239,107,758

Commitments and contingencies (credit equivalent) 1,246,094 17,824,628 – – 15,817,658 34,888,380

Derivatives (credit equivalent) – – 2,503,961 16,879 53,673 2,574,513

The credit exposure of assets as per statement of financial position comprises the carrying value of due from banks and other financial institutions, investments subject to credit risk, 
loans and advances, accrued special commission income, margin deposits against derivatives and repos and positive fair value of derivatives.

The credit equivalent of commitments and contingencies and derivatives is calculated according to SAMA’s prescribed methodology.

32. CREDIT RISK
The Group manages exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument or transaction will fail to discharge an obligation and will cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss. Credit exposures arise principally in credit-related risk that is embedded in loans and advances and investments. There is also credit risk in off-balance 
sheet financial instruments, such as trade-finance related products and loan commitments.

For loans and advances and off-balance sheet financing to borrowers, the Group assesses the probability of default of counterparties using internal rating models. For investments, 
due from banks and off-balance sheet financial instruments with international counterparties, the Group uses external ratings of the major rating agencies. 

The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of 
counterparties. The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify risks and to set appropriate risk limits and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. Actual 
exposures against limits are monitored daily. 

The Group manages the credit exposure relating to its trading activities by monitoring credit limits, entering into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements with 
counterparties in appropriate circumstances, and limiting the duration of exposure. In certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties 
to mitigate credit risk. The Group’s credit risk for derivatives represents the potential cost to replace the derivative contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligation and the 
Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities in order to control the level of credit risk taken. 

Concentrations of credit risk may arise in case of sizeable exposure to a single obligor or when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities 
in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, 
political or other conditions.

Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular customer, industry or geographical location.

The debt securities included in investments are mainly sovereign risk and high-grade securities. Analysis of investments by counterparty is provided in note (32.5). For details of 
the composition of the loans and advances refer to notes (7.4) and (32.1). Information on credit risk relating to derivative instruments is provided in notes (13) and (32.5) and for 
commitments and contingencies in note (20). The information on the Bank’s total maximum credit exposure is given in note (32.4).

The Bank uses an internal classification system based on risk ratings for its corporate and middle market customers. The risk rating system, which is managed by an independent 
unit, provides a rating at the obligor level. The risk rating system includes twenty grades, of which sixteen grades relate to the performing portfolio as follows:

•	Level	1:	represents	very	strong	quality	(i.e.	top	8	risk	rating	grades);
•	Level	2:	represents	good	quality	(i.e.	9th	and	10th	risk	rating	grades);	
•	Level	3:	represents	satisfactory	quality	(i.e.	11th	and	12th	risk	rating	grades)	and
•	Level	4:	represents	satisfactory	quality,	with	higher	risk	(i.e.	13th	to	16th	risk	rating	grades).

The lowest four grades (i.e. 17th to 20th rating grades) relate to the non-performing portfolio.
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Each individual borrower is rated based on an internally developed debt rating model that evaluates risk based on financial, qualitative and industry specific inputs. The associated 
loss estimate norms for each grade have been developed based on the Bank’s experience. These risk ratings are reviewed on a regular basis. 

Performing credit cards, consumer loans and small business loans are classified as standard as they are performing and have timely repayment with no past dues.

The Group in the ordinary course of lending activities holds collaterals as security to mitigate credit risk in the loans and advances (refer to note 32.2). These collaterals mostly 
include time and other cash deposits, financial guarantees from other banks, local and international equities, real estate and other fixed assets. The collaterals are held mainly 
against commercial and individual loans and are managed against relevant exposures at their net realizable values.The Group holds real estate collateral against transfer of title 
deed (ifrag) as a collateral but due to the difficulty in siezing and liquidating them, the Group does not consider them as immediate cash flow for impairment assessment  
for non-performing loans. Collateral generally is not held against due from banks & other financial institutions, except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase. 
Collateral usually is not held against investment securities, and no such collateral was held at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through the diversification of lending activities to ensure that there is no undue concentration of risks with individuals or groups 
of customers in specific locations or businesses. It also takes security when appropriate. The Group also seeks additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment 
indicators are noticed for the relevant loans and advances. The Group monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying 
agreement and monitors the market value of collateral obtained periodically.

Specific provisions for credit losses for the impaired lending portfolio are maintained by the Group’s Credit Risk Management in addition to credit-related specific provision for investments. 
Exposures falling within certain high risk ratings are considered impaired and appropriate specific provisions are individually made. An additional portfolio (collective) provision is 
allocated over the performing loans and advances as well as investments [refer to note (3.15) for accounting policy of impairment of financial assets].

(32.1) Credit quality of financial assets (loans and advances and due from banks and other financial institutions)
The credit quality of loans and advances is managed using internal credit ratings and for due from banks & financial institutions is managed using external credit ratings.  
The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset.

2011

Loans and Advances Due from banks
and other

financial
institutions

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Consumer and
credit cards

SR ‘000
Corporate

SR ‘000
Others
SR ‘000

Sub total
SR ‘000

Performing:

Neither past due nor impaired (performing)
 Level 1 – 61,988,950 2,570,649 64,559,599 11,563,365 76,122,964

 Level 2 – 18,667,801 – 18,667,801 – 18,667,801

 Level 3 – 4,749,174 – 4,749,174 – 4,749,174

 Level 4 – 3,379,661 – 3,379,661 – 3,379,661

Standard - unrated 38,562,409 2,069,653 1,319,858 41,951,920 – 41,951,920

Total 38,562,409 90,855,239 3,890,507 133,308,155 11,563,365 144,871,520

Past due but not impaired (performing)
 Less than 30 days 1,266,575 841,947 662 2,109,184 – 2,109,184

 30-59 days 236,019 859,924 4,588 1,100,531 – 1,100,531

 60-90 days 137,918 345,864 33,206 516,988 – 516,988

Sub Total 1,640,512 2,047,735 38,456 3,726,703 – 3,726,703

Total performing 40,202,921 92,902,974 3,928,963 137,034,858 11,563,365 148,598,223

Less: portfolio (collective) provision (663,862) (1,348,144) (32,888) (2,044,894) (1,875) (2,046,769)

Net performing 39,539,059 91,554,830 3,896,075 134,989,964 11,561,490 146,551,454

Non-performing:

Total non-performing 282,872 3,782,980 205,417 4,271,269 – 4,271,269

Less: specific provision (197,829) (3,579,281) (194,627) (3,971,737) – (3,971,737)

Net non-performing 85,043 203,699 10,790 299,532 – 299,532
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32. CREIT RISK CONTINuED

(32.1) Credit quality of financial assets (loans and advances and due from banks and other financial institutions) continued

2010

Loans and Advances Due from banks
and other

financial
institutions

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Consumerand
credit cards

SR ‘000
Corporate

SR ‘000
Others

SR ‘000
Sub total

SR ‘000

Performing:

Neither past due nor impaired (performing)
 Level 1 – 62,988,958 – 62,988,958 11,848,306 74,837,264

 Level 2 – 10,871,225 – 10,871,225 – 10,871,225

 Level 3 – 9,606,556 – 9,606,556 – 9,606,556

 Level 4 – 1,325,940 – 1,325,940 – 1,325,940

Standard - unrated 32,364,453 3,297,964 2,191,504 37,853,921 – 37,853,921

Total 32,364,453 88,090,643 2,191,504 122,646,600 11,848,306 134,494,906

Past due but not impaired (performing)
 Less than 30 days 1,852,684 906,187 23,211 2,782,082 – 2,782,082

 30-59 days 456,686 290,947 25,343 772,976 – 772,976

 60-90 days 155,611 114,218 – 269,829 – 269,829

Sub Total 2,464,981 1,311,352 48,554 3,824,887 – 3,824,887

Total performing 34,829,434 89,401,995 2,240,058 126,471,487 11,848,306 138,319,793

Less: portfolio (collective) provision (570,775) (1,008,505) (30,248) (1,609,528) (1,875) (1,611,403)

Net performing 34,258,659 88,393,490 2,209,810 124,861,959 11,846,431 136,708,390

Non-performing:

Total non-performing 477,954 4,347,543 337,113 5,162,610 – 5,162,610

Less: specific provision (404,890) (3,827,960) (194,628) (4,427,478) – (4,427,478)

Net non-performing 73,064 519,583 142,485 735,132 – 735,132

Standard - unrated loans mainly comprise consumer, credit cards, small businesses and private banking loans.

(32.2) Collateral
Fair value of collateral held by Bank against loans and advances by each category are as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Neither past due nor impaired 37,658,460 38,370,084

Past due but not impaired 1,705,401 1,503,451

Impaired 498,275 697,415

Total 39,862,136 40,570,950

Those collaterals, which are not readily convertible into cash (i.e. real estate), are accepted by the Bank with intent to dispose off in case of default by the customer.
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(32.3) Credit quality of financial assets (Investments)
The credit quality of investments (excluding investment in equities, hedge funds and externally managed portfolio, mutual funds and private equity funds) is managed using 
external credit ratings.

The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset using Moody’s rating agency.

Investments

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Performing:

High grade (Aaa-Baa3) 111,809,356 97,020,331

Standard grade (Ba1-B2) 1,665,582 2,426,047

Sub-standard grade (B3-C) 339,010 235,543

unrated 185,463 415,810

Total performing 113,999,411 100,097,731

Less: portfolio (collective) provision (453,085) (698,187)

Net performing 113,546,326 99,399,544

Non-performing:

Total non-performing 51,882 383,334

Less: specific provision (51,882) (363,839)

Net non-performing (see note 6) – 19,495

Total 113,546,326 99,419,039

The unrated investments comprise junior notes under structured credit.

(32.4) Maximum credit exposure
Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral and other credit enhancements is as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Assets

Due from banks and other financial institutions (note 32.1) 11,561,490 11,846,431

Investments (note 32.3) 113,546,326 99,419,039

Loans and advances, net (note 32.1) 135,289,496 125,597,091

Other assets - margin deposits against derivatives and repos and accrued special commission income receivable (note 12) 2,004,907 1,935,668

Total assets 262,402,219 238,798,229

Contingent liabilities and commitments, net (notes 15,16 & 20.3) 75,908,739 68,602,418

Derivatives - positive fair value, net (note 13) 465,956 402,813

Total maximum exposure 338,776,914 307,803,460
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32. CREDIT RISK CONTINuED

(32.5) Counterparty analysis of the Group’s investment and derivatives, net of provisions.

2011

Maximum exposure

Investment, net
 of provisions

SR ‘000

Derivatives
 financial instruments,

 (positive fair value, net)
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Government and quasi Government 110,918,711 738 110,919,449

Corporate 6,503,687 320,911 6,824,598

Banks and other financial institutions 3,066,770 127,268 3,194,038

Others – 17,039 17,039

Net maximum exposure (note 6 & 13) 120,489,168 465,956 120,955,124

2010

Maximum exposure

Investment, net
 of provisions

SR ‘000

Derivatives
 financial instruments,

 (positive fair value, net)
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Government and quasi Government 95,952,404 12,977 95,965,381

Corporate 6,589,226 265,837 6,855,063

Banks and other financial institutions 5,523,619 123,128 5,646,747

Others – 871 871

Net maximum exposure (note 6 & 13) 108,065,249 402,813 108,468,062

33. MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as special commission rate, credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing), equity prices 
and foreign exchange rates, will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading portfolios mainly are held by the Treasury division and include positions 
arising from market making and proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Board of Directors. The Group Risk Management is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies  
(subject to review and approval by the Board of Directors) and for the day-to-day review of their implementation.

(33.1) Market Risk-Trading Portfolio
The principal tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Group’s trading portfolios is Value at Risk (VaR). The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated loss 
that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse market movement with a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model 
used by the Group is based upon a 99 percent confidence level and assumes a 1-day holding period, except for Fair Value through Income Statement (FVIS) investments which 
are computed over a 3-month holding period (i.e., VaR is measured daily, except for VaR on FVIS investments which are computed on a monthly basis), to facilitate the comparison 
with the trading income (loss) which is also computed and reported on a daily and monthly basis respectively for these products. The model computes volatility and correlations 
using relevant historical market data.

The Group uses VaR limits for total market risk embedded in its trading activities including derivatives related to foreign exchange and special commission rate. The Group also 
assesses the market risks using VaR in its FVIS investments which are controlled by volume limits. The overall structure of VaR limits is subject to review and approval by the Board 
of Directors. VaR limits are allocated to trading portfolios. The daily reports of utilisation of VaR limits are submitted to the senior management of the Group. In addition, regular 
summaries about various risk measures including the Economic Capital are submitted to the Risk Management Committee of the Board.
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Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give rise to some limitations, including the following:

(i)  A 1-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within one day horizon. This is considered to be a realistic assumption in most  
of the cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe market illiquidity for a prolonged period.

(ii)  A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used there is a one percent probability that losses could  
exceed the VaR.

(iii)  VaR is calculated on an end-of-day basis and does not reflect exposures that may arise on positions during the trading day.

(iv)  The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes may not always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

(v)  The VaR measure is dependent upon the Group’s position and the volatility of market prices. The VaR of an unchanged position reduces if the market price volatility  
declines and vice versa. 

The limitations of the VaR methodology are recognised by supplementing VaR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential 
concentration risks within each trading portfolio. In addition, the Group uses stress tests to model the financial impact of exceptional market scenarios on individual trading 
portfolios and the Group’s overall trading position.

The table below shows the VaR related information for the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 for both Held for Trading and Held as FVIS portfolios:

2011

Held for Trading

FVIS
SR ‘000

Foreign
 exchange risk

SR ‘000

Special
 commission risk

SR ‘000
Overall risk

SR ‘000

VaR as at 31 December 2011 5 16 21 260,934

Average VaR for 2011 1,137 45 1,182 274,715

2010

Held for Trading

FVIS
SR ‘000

Foreign
 exchange risk

SR ‘000

Special
 commission risk

SR ‘000
Overall risk

SR ‘000

VaR as at 31 December 2010 3,759 154 3,913 283,884

Average VaR for 2010 2,173 152 2,325 231,075

(33.2) Market Risk - Non Trading Book
Market risk on non-trading book positions mainly arises from the special commission rate, foreign currency exposures and equity price changes.

(33.2.1) Special Commission Rate Risk
Special commission rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in special commission rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group’s 
Assets-Liabilities Committee (ALCO) has established limits on the special commission rate gap. Positions are regularly monitored and reported on a monthly basis to ALCO and hedging 
strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within the established limits. In case of stressed market conditions, the asset-liability gap may be monitored more frequently. 

The following table depicts the sensitivity due to reasonably possible changes in special commission rates, with other variables held constant, on the Group’s consolidated statement 
of income or equity. The sensitivity of the income is the effect of the assumed changes in special commission rates on the net special commission income for one year, based  
on the special commission bearing non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held as at December 31, 2011, including the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity 
of the equity is calculated by revaluing the fixed rate available for sale financial assets, including the effect of any associated hedges, as at December 31, 2011 for the effect of 
assumed changes in special commission rates. The sensitivity of equity is analyzed by maturity of the assets or cash flow hedge swaps. All significant non-trading book exposures 
are monitored and analyzed in currency concentrations and relevant sensitivities are disclosed in local currency. The sensitivity analysis does not take account of actions by the 
Group that might be taken to mitigate the effect of such changes.

2011

Increase /
Decrease

in basis points
SR ‘000

Sensitivity
of special

commission
income
SR ‘000

Sensitivity of shareholder's equity (other reserves

within 3
months
SR ‘000

3-12
 months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over
5 years
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Currency

SR  ± 10  ± 38,929 –  ± 125  ± 764  ± 16,347  ± 17,236

uSD  ± 10  ± 18,592 –  ± 723  ± 28,518  ± 85,683  ± 114,924
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33. MARKET RISK CONTINuED

(33.2) Market Risk - Non Trading Book continued

(33.2.1) Special Commission Rate Risk continued

2010

Increase /
Decrease

in basis points
SR ‘000

Sensitivity
of special

commission
income
SR ‘000

Sensitivity of shareholder's equity (other reserves

within 3
months
SR ‘000

3-12
 months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over
5 years
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Currency

SR  ± 10  ± 63,664 –  ± 88  ± 1,196  ± –  ± 1,284

uSD  ± 10  ± 16,429 –  ± 167  ± 27,404  ± 54,009  ± 81,580

(a) Special commission rate sensitivity of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items
The Group manages exposure to the effects of various risks associated with fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market special commission rates on its financial position and 
cash flows. The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to special commission rate risks. Included in the table are the Group’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, 
categorized by the earlier of the contractual re-pricing or the maturity dates. The Group manages exposure to special commission rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps  
in the amounts of assets and liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments that mature or re-price in a given period. The Group manages this risk by matching the re-pricing of 
assets and liabilities through risk management strategies.

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to special commission rate risks.

2011

Within 3
months
SR ‘000

3-12
months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over 5
years

SR ‘000

Non-special
commission

bearing
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 7,657,947 – – – 17,044,077 24,702,024

Due from banks and other financial institutions 9,162,736 1,751,250 – – 647,504 11,561,490

Investments, net 19,369,722 24,436,667 41,978,635 27,786,077 6,918,067 120,489,168

Loans and advances, net 30,748,318 55,095,523 46,135,515 1,822,205 1,487,935 135,289,496

Investment in associates, net – – – – 838,575 838,575

Other real estate, net – – – – 249,169 249,169

Property and equipment, net – – – – 2,317,353 2,317,353

Intangible assets, net – – – – 626,308 626,308

Goodwill, net – – – – 604,635 604,635

Other assets – – – – 4,519,943 4,519,943

Total assets 66,938,723 81,283,440 88,114,150 29,608,282 35,253,566 301,198,161

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Due to banks and other financial institutions 15,418,297 2,376,143 396,904 282,273 1,466,049 19,939,666

Customers’ deposits 53,160,479 12,378,654 448,264 – 173,470,161 239,457,558

Other liabilities – – – – 6,215,683 6,215,683

Shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders  
of the parent – – – – 34,165,218 34,165,218

Non-controlling interest – – – – 1,420,036 1,420,036

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 68,578,776 14,754,797 845,168 282,273 216,737,147 301,198,161

On-balance sheet gap (1,640,053) 66,528,643 87,268,982 29,326,009 (181,483,581)

Off-balance sheet gap (643,160) (699,640) 1,036,550 306,250 –

Total special commission rate sensitivity gap (2,283,213) 65,829,003 88,305,532 29,632,259 (181,483,581)

Cumulative special commission rate sensitivity gap (2,283,213) 63,545,790 151,851,322 181,483,581 –
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2010

Within 3
months
SR ‘000

3-12
months
SR ‘000

1-5
years

SR ‘000

Over 5
years

SR ‘000

Non-special
commission

bearing
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 13,009,819 – – – 14,922,720 27,932,539

Due from banks and other financial institutions 9,204,522 – – – 2,641,909 11,846,431

Investments, net 29,084,119 1,763,842 43,698,880 23,383,245 10,135,163 108,065,249

Loans and advances, net 32,119,254 47,312,970 43,875,321 1,838,071 451,475 125,597,091

Investment in associates, net – – – – 827,465 827,465

Other real estate, net – – – – 279,665 279,665

Property and equipment, net – – – – 2,097,005 2,097,005

Intangible assets, net – – – – 922,677 922,677

Goodwill, net – – – – 734,744 734,744

Other assets – – – – 4,069,126 4,069,126

Total assets 83,417,714 49,076,812 87,574,201 25,221,316 37,081,949 282,371,992

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Due to banks and other financial institutions 11,407,769 1,162,461 – 1,042 1,760,426 14,331,698

Customers’ deposits 64,345,415 11,362,405 220,087 6,720 153,225,554 229,160,181

Other liabilities – – – – 6,023,420 6,023,420

Shareholders’ equity attributable to equity holders  
of the parent – – – – 31,272,258 31,272,258

Non-controlling interest – – – – 1,584,435 1,584,435

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 75,753,184 12,524,866 220,087 7,762 193,866,093 282,371,992

On-balance sheet gap 7,664,530 36,551,946 87,354,114 25,213,554 (156,784,144)

Off-balance sheet gap (1,173,609) 416,214 851,145 (93,750) –

Total special commission rate sensitivity gap 6,490,921 36,968,160 88,205,259 25,119,804 (156,784,144)

Cumulative special commission rate sensitivity gap 6,490,921 43,459,081 131,664,340 156,784,144 –

The off-balance sheet gap represents the net notional amounts of derivative financial instruments, which are used to manage the special commission rate risk.

(33.2.2) Currency Risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group manages exposure to the effects of fluctuations 
in prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are monitored on a daily basis and 
hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

At the year end, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

Currency

2011
Long (short)

SR ‘000

2010
Long (short)

SR ‘000

uS Dollar 2,148,100 5,557,043 

TRY 4,073,197 4,559,460 

Long position indicates that assets in a foreign currency are higher than the liabilities in the same currency; the opposite applies to short position.
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33. MARKET RISK CONTINuED

(33.2) Market Risk - Non Trading Book continued

(33.2.2) Currency Risk continued
The table below indicates the extent to which the Group was exposed to currency risk at 31 December 2011 on its significant foreign currency positions. The analysis is performed 
for reasonably possible movements of the currency rate against the Saudi Riyal with all other variables held constant, including the effect of hedging instruments, on the consolidated 
statement of income; the effect on equity of foreign currencies other than Turkish Lira (TRY) is not significant. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in 
consolidated statement of income, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. The sensitivity analysis does not take account of actions by the Group that might be 
taken to mitigate the effect of such changes.

Currency

2011 2010

Increase/
Decrease

 in currency
rate in %

Effect on
profit

SR ‘000

Effect on
equity

SR ‘000

Increase/
Decrease

 in currency
rate in %

Effect on
profit

SR ‘000

Effect on
equity

SR ‘000

uS Dollar – – – – – –

TRY  ± 10%  ± 32,779  ± 407,320  ± 10%  ± 28,596  ± 455,946 

(33.2.3) Equity Price Risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the levels of equity index and the value of individual stocks.

The effect on shareholders’ equity (other reserves) as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments quoted in Tadawul and held as available-for-sale at 31 December 2011 
and 2010, due to reasonably possible changes in the prices of these quoted shares held by the Bank, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

Market index

2011 2010

Increase /
Decrease

 in market
prices %

Effect on
shareholders’

equity
(other reserves)

SR ‘000

Increase /
Decrease

 in market
prices %

Effect on
shareholders’

equity
(other reserves)

SR ‘000

Impact of change in market prices  ± 10%  ± 211,182  ± 10%  ± 253,194

34. LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under normal and stress circumstances. Liquidity risk can be caused by 
market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to be less readily available. To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sources 
in addition to its core deposit base, manages assets with liquidity in mind, maintaining an appropriate balance of cash, cash equivalents and readily marketable securities and 
monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. The Group has lines of credit in place that it can access to meet liquidity needs.

In accordance with the Banking Control Law and the regulations issued by SAMA, the Bank maintains a statutory deposit with SAMA of 7% of total demand deposits and 4% of 
savings and time deposits. In addition to the statutory deposit, the Bank also maintains liquid reserves of not less than 20% of the deposit liabilities, in the form of cash, Saudi 
Government Development Bonds or assets which can be converted into cash within a period not exceeding 30 days. The Bank has the ability to raise additional funds through 
repo facilities available with SAMA against Saudi Government Development Bonds up to 75% of the nominal value of bonds held. 
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The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the 
Group. One of these methods is to maintain limits on the ratio of liquid assets to deposit liabilities, set to reflect market conditions. Liquid assets consists of cash, short-term bank 
deposits and liquid debt securities available for immediate sale and Saudi Government Bonds excluding repos. Deposits liabilities include both customers and Banks, excluding 
non-resident Bank deposits in foreign currency. The ratio during the year was as follows:

2011
%

2010
%

As at 31 December 40% 41%

Average during the year 45% 39%

(34.1) Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2011 and 2010 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations;  
as special commission payments up to contractual maturity are included in the table, totals do not match with the statement of financial position. The contractual maturities  
of liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the consolidated statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date and do not  
take into account the effective expected maturities as shown on note (34.2) below (Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities for the expected maturities). Repayments which are 
subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However, the Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the 
Group could be required to pay and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history.

Financial liabilities
On demand

SR ‘000

Less than
 3 months

SR ‘000

3 to 12
months
SR ‘000

1 to 5
 years

SR ‘000

Over
5 years
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

As at 31 December 2011

Due to banks and other financial institutions 2,705,985 15,636,513 1,005,761 636,192 87,117 20,071,568

Customers’ deposits 178,524,868 47,992,424 12,599,423 462,854 – 239,579,569

Derivative financial instruments  
(gross contractual amounts payable) – 29,834,693 34,214,631 6,223,512 25,062 70,297,898

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 181,230,853 93,463,630 47,819,815 7,322,558 112,179 329,949,035

Financial liabilities
On demand

SR ‘000

Less than
 3 months

SR ‘000

3 to 12
months
SR ‘000

1 to 5
 years

SR ‘000

Over
5 years
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

As at 31 December 2010

Due to banks and other financial institutions 2,273,594 11,092,367 1,171,752 1,114 – 14,538,827

Customers’ deposits 154,109,405 64,217,822 11,415,587 225,685 7,708 229,976,207

Derivative financial instruments  
(gross contractual amounts payable) – 26,587,110 20,627,451 1,184,975 13,055 48,412,591

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 156,382,999 101,897,299 33,214,790 1,411,774 20,763 292,927,625

The contractual maturity structure of the credit-related contingencies and commitments are shown under note (20.3(a)).
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34. LIQUIDITY RISK CONTINuED

(34.2) Maturity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled. See note (34.1) above for the contractual 
undiscounted financial liabilities.

2011

Less than 12 months More than 1 year

No-fixed
maturity

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Less than 3
 months
SR ‘000

3 to 12
months
SR ‘000

Sub total
SR ‘000

1 to 5
 years

SR ‘000

Over 5
 years

SR ‘000
Sub total

SR ‘000

Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 8,347,784 896,882 9,244,666 2,763,450 12,693,908 15,457,358 – 24,702,024
Due from banks and other financial institutions 9,032,119 143,526 9,175,645 591,990 1,793,855 2,385,845 – 11,561,490
Investments, net 18,296,672 16,740,255 35,036,927 48,336,364 37,115,877 85,452,241 – 120,489,168
Loans and advances, net 25,401,246 48,051,381 73,452,627 37,238,946 24,429,638 61,668,584 168,285 135,289,496
Investment in associates, net – – – – – – 838,575 838,575
Other real estate, net – – – – – – 249,169 249,169
Property and equipment, net – – – – – – 2,317,353 2,317,353
Intangible assets, net 47,334 142,003 189,337 436,971 – 436,971 – 626,308
Goodwill, net – – – – – – 604,635 604,635
Other assets 318,836 473,915 792,751 361,274 559,108 920,382 2,806,810 4,519,943
Total assets 61,443,991 66,447,962 127,891,953 89,728,995 76,592,386 166,321,381 6,984,827 301,198,161

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Due to banks and other financial institutions 17,525,193 145,472 17,670,665 221,045 2,047,956 2,269,001 – 19,939,666
Customers’ deposits 66,567,304 21,190,119 87,757,423 16,855,571 134,844,564 151,700,135 – 239,457,558
Other liabilities 751,586 326,191 1,077,777 247,967 – 247,967 4,889,939 6,215,683
Total liabilities 84,844,083 21,661,782 106,505,865 17,324,583 136,892,520 154,217,103 4,889,939 265,612,907
Total shareholders’ equity – – – – – – 35,585,254 35,585,254
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 84,844,083 21,661,782 106,505,865 17,324,583 136,892,520 154,217,103 40,475,193 301,198,161

2010

Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 13,617,502 752,104 14,369,606 2,674,717 10,888,216 13,562,933 – 27,932,539
Due from banks and other financial institutions 7,991,541 197,053 8,188,594 889,210 2,768,627 3,657,837 – 11,846,431
Investments, net 16,591,208 15,964,459 32,555,667 42,823,829 32,685,753 75,509,582 – 108,065,249
Loans and advances, net 22,081,290 43,193,191 65,274,481 27,817,684 32,504,926 60,322,610 – 125,597,091
Investment in associates, net – – – – – – 827,465 827,465
Other real estate, net – – – – – – 279,665 279,665
Property and equipment, net – – – – – – 2,097,005 2,097,005
Intangible assets, net 60,159 137,721 197,880 709,501 15,296 724,797 – 922,677
Goodwill, net – – – – – – 734,744 734,744
Other assets 287,995 421,889 709,884 329,567 546,284 875,851 2,483,391 4,069,126
Total assets 60,629,695 60,666,417 121,296,112 75,244,508 79,409,102 154,653,610 6,422,270 282,371,992

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Due to banks and other financial institutions 11,998,754 160,899 12,159,653 176,971 1,995,074 2,172,045 – 14,331,698
Customers’ deposits 78,494,657 22,775,885 101,270,542 14,209,960 113,679,679 127,889,639 – 229,160,181
Other liabilities 594,942 255,288 850,230 199,781 – 199,781 4,973,409 6,023,420
Total liabilities 91,088,353 23,192,072 114,280,425 14,586,712 115,674,753 130,261,465 4,973,409 249,515,299
Total shareholders’ equity – – – – – – 32,856,693 32,856,693
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 91,088,353 23,192,072 114,280,425 14,586,712 115,674,753 130,261,465 37,830,102 282,371,992
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35. GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES AND CREDIT EXPOSURE

(35.1) The distribution by geographical region for major categories of assets, liabilities and commitments and contingencies and credit exposure  
at year end is as follows:

2011

The Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia

SR ‘000

GCC and
Middle East

SR ‘000
Europe
SR ‘000

Turkey
SR ‘000

Other
countries

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 24,107,818 2,720 134,938 152,118 304,430 24,702,024

Due from banks and other financial institutions 3,383,098 3,404,908 1,021,243 3,198,371 553,870 11,561,490

Investments, net 58,020,596 17,202,791 26,328,133 1,194,905 17,742,743 120,489,168

Loans and advances, net 112,396,198 130,944 896,033 20,225,997 1,640,324 135,289,496

Investment in associates, net 838,575 – – – – 838,575

Intangible assets, net – – – 626,308 – 626,308

Goodwill, net – – – 604,635 – 604,635

Total 198,746,285 20,741,363 28,380,347 26,002,334 20,241,367 294,111,696

Liabilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions 193,561 3,534,141 1,559,734 2,234,127 12,418,103 19,939,666

Customers’ deposits 219,674,421 488,086 24,456 19,197,485 73,110 239,457,558

Total 219,867,982 4,022,227 1,584,190 21,431,612 12,491,213 259,397,224

Commitments and contingencies (note 20.3) 47,031,225 1,400,916 1,641,469 13,775,039 15,328,706 79,177,355

Credit exposure (credit equivalent) (note 31.2):

Commitments and contingencies 24,348,492 731,219 856,777 7,189,985 8,000,933 41,127,406

Derivatives 294,535 175,482 298,678 63,200 391 832,286

2010

The Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia

SR ‘000

GCC and
Middle East

SR ‘000
Europe
SR ‘000

Turkey
SR ‘000

Other
countries

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA 27,327,345 2,107 401,984 142,359 58,744 27,932,539

Due from banks and other financial institutions 4,287,911 2,320,337 1,182,921 3,887,525 167,737 11,846,431

Investments, net 53,583,601 13,627,563 23,063,359 1,389,294 16,401,432 108,065,249

Loans and advances, net 106,078,645 130,803 65,625 19,134,515 187,503 125,597,091

Investment in associates, net 827,465 – – – – 827,465

Intangible assets, net – – – 922,677 – 922,677

Goodwill, net – – – 734,744 – 734,744

Total 192,104,967 16,080,810 24,713,889 26,211,114 16,815,416 275,926,196

Liabilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions 798,485 5,731,533 1,877,608 318,210 5,605,862 14,331,698

Customers’ deposits 208,247,754 303,313 24,410 20,550,489 34,215 229,160,181

Total 209,046,239 6,034,846 1,902,018 20,868,699 5,640,077 243,491,879

Commitments and contingencies (note 20.3) 41,006,400 2,597,584 1,634,046 10,300,346 16,134,455 71,672,831

Credit exposure (credit equivalent) (note 31.2):

Commitments and contingencies 19,194,131 1,086,442 1,089,497 5,883,173 7,635,137 34,888,380

Derivatives 1,220,382 51,995 1,045,044 53,673 203,419 2,574,513

The credit equivalent of commitments and contingencies and derivatives is calculated according to SAMA’s prescribed methodology.
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35. GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES AND CREDIT EXPOSURE CONTINuED

(35.2) The distribution by geographical concentration of non-performing loans and advances and specific provision are as follows:

2011

The Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia

SR ‘000

GCC and
Middle East

SR ‘000
Europe
SR ‘000

Turkey
SR ‘000

Other
countries

SR ‘000
Total

SR ‘000

Non performing loans and advances 3,749,143 37,500 – 484,626 – 4,271,269
Less: specific provision (3,598,916) (37,500) – (335,321) – (3,971,737)
Net 150,227 – – 149,305 – 299,532

2010

Non performing loans and advances 4,540,055 37,500 – 585,055 – 5,162,610
Less: specific provision (4,011,730) (37,500) – (378,248) – (4,427,478)
Net 528,325 – – 206,807 – 735,132

36. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Consequently, 
differences can arise between carrying values and fair value estimates.

The fair values of on-balance sheet financial instruments, except for loans and advances and customers’ deposits which are carried at cost as well as investments held at amortized 
cost, are not significantly different from the carrying values included in the consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair values of other investments held at amortized 
cost and held to maturity investments are based on quoted market prices, when available, third party quotes or valuation models in the case of certain fixed rate securities, structured 
credit and investments where no quoted prices are available. The fair values of these investments are disclosed in note (6).

The fair values of derivatives and other off-balance sheet financial instruments are based on the quoted market prices when available or by using the appropriate valuation techniques.

37. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument.

Level 2: quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are based on observable market data, and

Level 3: valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

2011
Level 1
SR ‘000

Level 2
SR ‘000

Level 3
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Financial assets available for sale:
Debt securities 26,298,008 2,451,470 24,521 28,773,999
Structured credit – – 168,063 168,063
Mutual funds – – 172 172
Quoted equities 2,089,815 – – 2,089,815
unquoted equities – – 72,368 72,368
Private equity funds – – 1,162,330 1,162,330
Sub total 28,387,823 2,451,470 1,427,454 32,266,747

Held for trading:
Mutual funds 508,510 – – 508,510

Fair value through income statement (FVIS):
Hedge funds and externally managed portfolio – 2,510,030 599,615 3,109,645
Total 28,896,333 4,961,500 2,027,069 35,884,902

Derivative financial instruments
Financial assets – 396,534 69,422 465,956
Financial liabilities – 712,584 69,657 782,241
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2010
Level 1
SR ‘000

Level 2
SR ‘000

Level 3
SR ‘000

Total
SR ‘000

Financial assets available for sale:

Debt securities 23,134,740 3,533,519 79,939 26,748,198 

Structured credit  –  – 125,682 125,682 

Mutual funds  –  – 172 172 

Quoted equities 2,531,944  –  – 2,531,944 

unquoted equities  –  – 71,243 71,243 

Private equity funds  –  – 1,007,838 1,007,838 

Sub total 25,666,684 3,533,519 1,284,874 30,485,077 

Held for trading:

Mutual funds 587,110  –  – 587,110 

Fair value through income statement (FVIS):

Hedge funds and externally managed portfolio  –  2,936,581  1,511,420 4,448,001 

Total 26,253,794 6,470,100 2,796,294 35,520,188 

Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets  –  389,911  12,902 402,813 

Financial liabilities  –  532,727  22,340 555,067 

Movement of level 3 is as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Balance at beginning of the year  2,796,294  3,904,034 

Total gains/(losses) in consolidated income statement and comprehensive income  9,989  (63,646)

Purchases  242,341  550,890 

(Sales)  (729,130)  (1,563,563)

(Settlements)  (3,036)  – 

Transfer (from) level 3  (289,388)  (31,421)

Balance at end of the year 2,027,070 2,796,294 

Th
e 

N
at

io
na

l C
om

m
er

ci
al

 B
an

k 
 |

  A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

11

83



38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In the ordinary course of its activities, the Bank transacts business with related parties. In the opinion of the management and the Board, the related party transactions are performed 
on an arm’s length basis. The related party transactions are governed by the limits set by the Banking Control Law and the regulations issued by SAMA. Related party balances 
include the balances resulting from transactions with Governmental shareholders. All other Government transactions are also at market rates.

(38.1) The balances as at 31 December included in the financial statements are as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Group’s Board of Directors and senior executives:
Loans and advances 384,407 406,945 
Customers’ deposits 39,687 53,322 
Commitment and contingencies 1,563 2,671 
Other liabilities - end of service benefits 29,124 28,020 
Major shareholders:
Customers’ deposits 13,712,073 12,847,614 
Bank’s mutual funds:
Investments 508,505 586,110 
Customers’ deposits 431,340 2,558,053 

Major shareholders represent shareholdings of more than 5% of the Bank’s issued share capital. Related parties are the persons or close members of those persons’ families and 
their affiliate entities which they have control, joint control or significant influence over these entities.

(38.2) Income and expenses pertaining to transactions with related parties included in the financial statements are as follows:

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Special commission income 7,600 5,753

Special commission expense 90,763 170,446

Bank’s Board of Directors include the Board and Board related committees (Executive Committee, Credit Committee, Risk Management Committee, Compensation and 
Nomination Committee and Audit Committee); their remunerations, allowances and expenses are disclosed in the Board of Directors’ report. For Bank’s senior executives 
compensation, refer to note 39.

39. GROUP’s STAFF COMPENSATION

The total cost of the Group’s compensation is as follows:

2011
Number of
employees

Fixed
compensation

(on accrual basis)
SR ‘000

Variable
compensation
(on cash basis)

SR ‘000

Categories of employees

Senior executives 15 29,871 44,181

Employees engaged in risk taking activities 208 77,807 15,130

Employees engaged in control functions 251 81,198 17,087

Other employees 5,437 884,185 201,608

Outsourced employees (engaged in risk taking activities) – – –

Subsidiaries 3,720 496,023 102,463

Group total 9,631 1,569,084 380,469

All forms of payment for fixed and variable compensation are in cash, except for part of NCB Capital’s variable compensation amounting to SR 20.1 million, which is settled in equities. 
The two basic salaries of SR 93.4 million paid to Saudi staff pursuant to The Royal Award are excluded from the above compensation.
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The Bank’s senior executives are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

Employees engaged in risk taking activities comprise those officers of the business sectors of Individual Banking, Consumer Finance, International, Corporate and Treasury division, 
who are the key drivers in undertaking business transactions, and managing related business risks.

Employees engaged in control functions include employees in Risk Management, Internal Audit, Compliance, Finance and Legal divisions.

The Group’s variable compensation recognized as staff expenses in the consolidated statement of income for 2011 is SR 375.8 million (2010: SR 365 million) which will be paid  
to employees during quarter 1 of 2012.

40. CAPITAL ADEQUACY

(40.1) Capital adequacy ratio
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by SAMA to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and  
to maintain a strong capital base.

The Group monitors the adequacy of its capital using the ratios and weights established by SAMA. These ratios measure capital adequacy by comparing the Group’s eligible capital 
with its statement of position assets, commitments & contingencies and notional amount of derivatives at a weighted amount to reflect their relative credit risk, market risk and 
operational risk. SAMA requires to hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital and maintain a ratio of total eligible capital to the risk-weighted asset at or above the agreed 
minimum of 8%. Regulatory Capital is computed for Credit, Market and Operational risk which comprise the Pillar 1 minimum capital requirements. 

Eligible capital Capital Adequ.acy Ratio (Pillar 1)

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

2011
%

2010
%

Core capital (Tier 1) 34,318,125 31,174,410 17.2 17.1

Supplementary capital (Tier 2) 2,008,707 1,584,662

Core and supplementary capital (Tier 1 and Tier 2) 36,326,832 32,759,072 18.2 18.0

Tier 1 capital of the Group at the year end comprises share capital, statutory reserve, other reserves, retained earnings, proposed dividend and non-controlling interests less 
treasury shares, goodwill, intangible assets and other prescribed deductions. Tier 2 capital comprises a prescribed amount of eligible portfolio (collective) provisions less 
prescribed deductions.

The Group has implemented Basel II effective 1 January 2008 as stipulated by SAMA. The Group uses the Standardized approach of Basel II to calculate the risk weighted assets 
and required Regulatory Capital for Pillar -1 (including credit risk, market risk and operational risk). The Group’s Risk Management Division is responsible for ensuring that minimum 
required Regulatory Capital calculated is compliant with Basel II requirements. Quarterly prudential returns are submitted to SAMA showing the Capital Adequacy Ratio. 

Risk weighted assets

2011
SR ‘000

2010
SR ‘000

Credit risk 169,732,836 154,962,437 

Operational risk 22,107,907 19,205,066 

Market risk 7,809,547 8,261,749 

Total Pillar-1 - risk weighted assets 199,650,290 182,429,252 

(40.2) Basel II Pillar 3 Disclosures
under Basel II pillar 3, certain quantitative and qualitative disclosures are required, and these disclosures, which are not required to be audited, will be made available on the 
Group’s website www.alahli.com as required by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA).

41. INVESTMENT SERVICES
The Bank offers investment management services to its customers through NCB capital. Assets under management outstanding at 31 December 2011 amounted to SR 33,963 million 
(2010: SR 41,645 million)

42. TREASURY SHARES
The Bank acquired its own equity shares in 2009 from a customer as a result of partial set-off of debt.

43. ACQUISITION OF AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS (EQUITIES)
The Bank acquired equities during 2009 and 2010 from a customer as a result of partial set-off of debt.
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44. PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group consolidated financial statements are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations 
issued, which the Group reasonably expects to be applicable at a future date. The Group intends to adopt those standards when they become effective.

Effective from periods 
beginning on or after

Standard, amendment  
or interpretation Summary of requirements

1 July 2012 Presentation of Items of  
Other Comprehensive Income  
(Amendments to IAS 1)

The amendments require that an entity present separately, the items of other comprehensive income that would 
be reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions are met, from those that would never be reclassified 
to profit or loss.

1 January 2013 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments Standard issued in November 2009 (IFRS 9 (2009)) which is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to 
replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 (2009) retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary 
measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on 
the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. The guidance in IAS 
39 on impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting continues to apply.

The IASB issued exposure draft (ED) Mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 that proposes to move the mandatory 
effective date to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 with early application continue to be permitted.

1 January 2013 IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments Standard issued in October 2010 (IFRS 9 (2010)) which adds the requirements related to the classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities, and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities to the version issued in 
November 2009. It also includes those paragraphs of IAS 39 dealing with how to measure fair value and accounting 
for derivatives embedded in a contract that contains a host that is not a financial asset, as well as the requirements 
of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives. Also refer to ED on Mandatory effective date, as stated above.

1 January 2013 IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial 
Statements

IFRS 10 introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be consolidated and provides a single 
model to be applied in the control analysis for all investees.

An investor controls an investee when:

•	it	is	exposed	or	has	rights	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	that	investee;

•	it	has	the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	through	its	power	over	that	investee;	and

•	there	is	a	link	between	power	and	returns.

Control is re–assessed as facts and circumstances change.

IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27 (2008) and SIC–12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

1 January 2013 IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities

IFRS 12 contains the disclosure requirements for entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements  
(i.e. joint operations or joint ventures), associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities, aiming to provide 
information to enable users to evaluate: 

•	the	nature	of,	and	risks	associated	with,	an	entity’s	interests	in	other	entities;	and

•	the	effects	of	those	interests	on	the	entity’s	financial	position,	financial	performance	and	cash	flows.

1 January 2013 IFRS – 13 Fair Value Measurement IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair 
value measurement guidance. It defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out 
disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. It explains how to measure fair value when it is required or 
permitted by other IFRSs.

1 January 2013 IAS – 27 Separate Financial 
Statements (2011)

IAS 27 (2011) supersedes IAS 27 (2008). IAS 27 (2011) carries forward the existing accounting and disclosure 
requirements for separate financial statements, with some minor clarifications.

1 January 2013 IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures (2011)

IAS 28 (2011) supersedes IAS 28 (2008). IAS 28 (2011) makes the following amendments:

•		IFRS	5	applies	to	an	investment,	or	a	portion	of	an	investment,	in	an	associate	or	a	joint	venture	that	meets	 
the criteria to be classified as held for sale; and

•		on	cessation	of	significant	influence	or	joint	control,	even	if	an	investment	in	an	associate	becomes	an	investment	
in a joint venture or vice versa, the entity does not remeasure the retained interest.

45. BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 January 2012 (corresponding to 8 Rabi Al-Awal 1433H).
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Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques
King Abdullah Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saud

HRH Prince Naif Bin Abdulaziz Al-Saud
 Crown Prince, Deputy Prime Minister and
Minister of the Interior



The National Commercial Bank 
PO Box 3555, Jeddah 21481, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

www.alahli.com 
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Together we can help the environment
As part of NCB’s commitment to conservation, we are reducing the print-runs of all corporate  
reports. Many people have already indicated they prefer to receive digital versions. To view English 
or Arabic digital versions of our reports, please visit the ‘About Us’ Section at www.alahli.com.

Feedback  We welcome your comments on this report. 
These should be directed to corporatecomms@alahli.com 
or we may be contacted directly on +966 2 646 4288. 

Mixed Sources  All NCB corporate reports are printed 
using FSC certified papers, which are from well-managed 
forests and other controlled sources. www.fsc.org




